African Oxygen Limited
Integrated Report
2014

Board responsibility
The Board and its sub-committees are ultimately responsible for overseeing the integrity and
completeness of the integrated report. The Board has applied its collective mind to the preparation
and presentation of the integrated report and has concluded that the completeness of the material
matters dealt with and the reliability of data and information presented, were taken into
consideration and have been materially presented according to the International Integrated
Reporting Council’s (IIRC) Integrated Report framework. On 26 February 2015, the Board approved
the 2014 integrated report.

Mike Huggon
Chairman and acting Managing Director

Nick Thomson
Financial Director

Forward-looking statements
Opinions expressed in this report are, by nature, subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties. Changing information or circumstances may cause the actual results, plans and
objectives of Afrox to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking
statements. Undue reliance should not be placed on such opinions, forecasts or data. No
representation is made on the completeness or correctness of opinions, forecasts or data in this
report. Neither Afrox nor any of its affiliates, advisors or representatives accepts any responsibility
for any loss arising from the use of any opinion expressed, forecast or data in this report. Forwardlooking statements apply only as of the date on which they are made and Afrox does not undertake
any obligation to publicly update or revise any of its opinions or forward-looking statements,
whether to reflect new data or future events or circumstances.
The financial information on which the forward-looking statements are based have not been audited
or reported on by Afrox’s independent external auditors.

Feedback
We remain committed to enhancing and improving on future integrated reports and to reporting
on the value that Afrox creates for its stakeholders. Therefore, we welcome your feedback
on our integrated report. Please send your queries to corporate communications at
investor.relations@afrox.linde.com.
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About this report
Reporting approach
We are pleased to present the African Oxygen Limited
(Afrox) 2014 integrated report. This is our third integrated
report and this year we have improved our report by
including our material sustainability information.
Consequently, Afrox will no longer produce a separate
sustainability report.
This integrated report aims to provide a balanced view of
Afrox’s financial and non-financial performance and is
focused on material matters. An item is considered material
for reporting purposes if it substantially affects Afrox’s
ability to create and sustain value over the short, medium
and long-term. Refer to page 11 for more detail on Afrox’s
material matters.

This report is structured around our strategy, which consists
of the following four focus areas:
achieve a step change in profitability and operating
performance;
ensure sustainable growth while enhancing
competitiveness;
embed advanced safety, health, environment and quality
performance; and
build a performance culture.
We have re-evaluated some of the key performance
indicators (KPIs) reported under each of the above focus
areas to improve the quality and relevance of the report.

The integrated report is our primary vehicle of communication for our prospects and performance. It includes our summarised
audited financial statements which have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2014. The following information is supplementary to our integrated report and is available online:
Report

Purpose and basis of preparation

Annual financial
statements for
the year ended
31 December 2014

Full financial statements according to
International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa.

Assurance
Internal controls
Internal audit
Management and
governance oversight
External audit opinion

www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.

Online reference

Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) index

This includes detailed responses to each
of the G3 reporting criteria and identifies
where relevant information is disclosed in
the integrated report.

Management and
governance oversight

www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.

King Code of
Governance
for South Africa
(King III) checklist

Afrox has disclosed our compliance and
application of the King III principles as
required.

Internal controls
Management and
governance oversight

www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.

Award and
certification
report

A report listing the various certifications
and accreditations and the Afrox sites to
which they pertain.

Internal controls
Management and
governance oversight
External assurance
providers

www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.

Supplementary online
reporting

 Providing

additional safety, health,
environment and quality information
Providing additional corporate social
responsibility information
Providing additional human resource
information and statistics

Internal controls
Management and
governance oversight

www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.

In the report, “Afrox”, “Company”, “us”, “our” or “we” refer to the Afrox Group and/or its management.
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Afrox’s 2013 reporting was included in the JSE’s Socially
Responsible Investment (SRI) Index as announced on
27 November 2014. Afrox has used the SRI Index as a
further guideline in developing this integrated report.

Scope and boundary

We have used a combined assurance model to ensure the
integrity of our integrated report. The combined assurance
model employed a combination of assurance obtained from
management, internal audit and our external assurance
providers.

	
Afrox has a risk management process in place (refer to
page 12 for further detail).
	
Regulatory compliance is monitored through regular
reviews carried out by the legal department. This also
identifies changes required to policies and procedures
which are then updated by process owners in the
functional areas.

Line 3: Independent, objective internal and
external assurance providers:
	
Internal audit is a function of The Linde Group and is
considered to be independent from Afrox. Internal audits
are done on financial systems, compliance with policies
and business processes. Audit findings are reported
through to management and summarised findings are
presented to the Audit Committee. Progress on resolving
audit findings is monitored to ensure they are
appropriately closed out and that the associated risk
is mitigated.
	
Afrox does not obtain external assurance on
sustainability data.
	
The summarised consolidated financial statements
contained in this report are a summary of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2014 (available at http://www.afrox.co.
za/en/investor_relations/Index.html) on which KPMG
Inc. have expressed an unmodified audit opinion.
African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014
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Assurance

Line 2: Functional areas:

governance and remuneration

Since the release of Afrox’s 2013 integrated report, there
have been no significant changes regarding the size,
structure or ownership of Afrox. However, Afrox has initiated
a restructuring programme, refer to pages 28, 29 and 34 for
more information, which will impact various aspects of the
Afrox business model. There have been no restatements to
comparatives unless stated in the relevant section.

	
Afrox has documented policies and procedures for
all functions. A number of these are ISO compliant.
All policies and procedures are written by teams of
experts and are maintained in a central database.
	
Process owners amend processes to incorporate
legislative and other requirements and ensure
implementation when needed.
	
High performance organisation maturity roadmaps are
maintained for all areas in alignment with Linde Group
standards. This process is ongoing to ensure that Afrox
internal processes are in line with the required global
Linde Group standards.
	
There is monthly performance reporting around controls
to the Executive Management Committee. Performance
reports on the progress on resolving control improvement
initiatives are also submitted to the various Board
sub-committees and to the Board.

performance review

This report covers the performance of Afrox and its
consolidated entities for the year 1 January 2014 to
31 December 2014. The report encompasses our South
African and sub-Saharan operations in the rest of Africa and
information about our subsidiaries. The detail of our
subsidiaries and associates can be found in notes 38
and 39 to the annual financial statements available online
(at http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/Index.
html). Where external stakeholders substantially influence
Afrox’s business, their real and potential impacts are
discussed.

Line 1: Line management and managerial controls:

leadership review

Afrox is on a journey towards full GRI G4 compliance and will
work towards adopting the core ‘in accordance’ option.

The combined assurance model consists of three lines of
defence, namely:

material matters and
strategic response

The information provided in this integrated report has been
based on local and international requirements and
frameworks. These include:
	
the International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC)
Integrated Report framework;
	
the principles of the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI) (G3);
	
the King Code of Governance for South Africa 2009
(the King III Code);
	
JSE Limited Listings Requirements;
	
the South African Companies Act (Companies Act); and
	
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

our business

Guidelines used

Afrox business model
Capital capabilities
Financial capital

Afrox is a capital intensive and cash flow generative business. Operating cash flow is generally
around 85% of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA). Operating
cashflow is used to meet the cost of replacement assets, dividends, finance costs and tax.
The Company’s dividend policy is for headline earnings per share (HEPS) to cover the dividend
per share twice.
Working capital management is crucial in keeping Afrox’s cash generative capacity around 85%
of EBITDA. Particular focus is paid to managing imported inventory (Hard Goods, LPG and some
special gases, such as helium).
Afrox has a low financial gearing and therefore has capacity to finance growth initiatives.
Gearing is managed within the financial covenants so that net interest-bearing borrowings
do not exceed two-and-a-half times EBITDA and that the interest cover ratio is not less than
four times.
Afrox’s South African domestic market (fabrication, motor vehicle assemblers, manufacturers,
steel producers, mining and mining services) is under economic pressure and we are acutely
aware of how capital is spent and the returns it should generate, given the current risk climate.
Recognising this environment of low economic growth, we are embarking on a restructuring
programme aimed at:
reducing our structural costs;
reducing employee numbers and management layers;
	
directing our resources at higher margin business and product lines to improve our financial
performance; and
	
ensuring an acceptable return to shareholders as well as generating sufficient financial capital
to sustain re-investment into the business.

Human capital, social
and relationship capital

Afrox employs 2 856 staff at a cost of R1.2 billion per year. Average employment tenure at Afrox
is 9.1 years. Our integrated product offerings are largely dependent on a skilled workforce and
retention of these critical skills.
Afrox aims to:
be an employer of choice;
provide attractive careers;
have the right people in the right place to service customers;
drive innovation and enhance customer solutions;
continuously learn, change and improve;
develop management and leadership capabilities;
support line managers and their ability to lead people; and
manage and reward performance.
We want to create a performance culture. To do this we concentrate on retention of critical skills,
leadership development, development of skills aligned to our business strategy and
requirements, education, people engagement and user-friendly human resource process
automation to assist in setting, maintaining and evaluating performance.
The Afrox Code of Ethics underpins how we do business. Afrox has always aspired to the highest
ethical standards and is in full compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry
standards.

4 I

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

our business

Capital capabilities
Human capital, social
and relationship capital
continued

material matters and
strategic response

The Afrox Code of Ethics is the starting point from which employees draw inspiration and
guidance for their behaviour. An integrity line has been established to enable employees to
report contraventions of our Code of Ethics. Guiding principles or core values within the Code
define our responsibilities towards, and what we expect from:
directors;
employees;
customers, suppliers, partners and markets;
shareholders; and
local communities and the public.
Suppliers and partners form part of the driving force behind the development and delivery of the
products, technologies and support services that we provide to our customers.

Intellectual capital

We continue to introduce new equipment and manufacturing techniques and exploit cuttingedge technologies and research available to us as a member of The Linde Group. Afrox has strong
brands and a national distribution network using a wide network of distributors and branded Gas
& Gear centres.

Afrox has a deep understanding of client processes and is therefore able to add value through
process optimisation and improvement delivery, reduction of failure rates and improved returns.
Leveraging off our skilled human capital allows us to make customer installations to the
appropriate standards and the ability to provide customers with innovative solutions.
Manufactured capital

governance and remuneration

Manufacturing of our gases and other products takes place on 41 different sites. This comprises
31 manned units and 16 on-site automated plants not requiring operators, with some
manufacturing sites hosting more than one unit. The central scheduling centre deals with more
than 20 000 customer deliveries per month. Afrox has a network of prominently branded and
strategically located Gas & Gear retail outlets and a national warehouse located in Gauteng.
In light of the changes in demand resulting from lower economic activity, the extent of this
footprint is being reviewed as part of our restructuring programme.
In addition to liquefied bulk deliveries countrywide, and customer-specific on-site plants, an
advanced supply chain network is capable of sourcing, manufacturing and delivering over
3 000 products and gases in 700 000 high-pressure cylinders and 2.5 million LPG cylinders.
Afrox’s transport fleet covers around 27 million kilometres per year.
Although Afrox’s major atmospheric gas products in their gaseous form do not pollute the
environment, in liquid form they can be harmful. Some of our mixes could cause considerable harm
if not properly handled. Afrox operations’ environmental impacts are limited to the consumption
of electricity and fuel for which Afrox has efficiency initiatives in place to conserve resources and
reduce greenhouse gases, while remaining commercially successful. All Afrox’s products are
geared to ensure that customers’ environmental compliance is adhered to. In understanding the
customer’s processes, Afrox’s value added services help ensure that efficiencies are realised.
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Natural capital

performance review

We believe technology is the key to operating safely, protecting the environment and delivering
unique solutions to meet customers’ requirements. Afrox offers an extensive delivery service.
Our central scheduling centre has a dedicated team that is responsible for, and committed to,
co-ordinating and planning of distribution and deliveries.

leadership review

Afrox has commenced a restructuring programme. An expected outcome of this process is a
streamlined management structure and a reduced number of employees. This programme will
have a significant impact on employees and Afrox is committed to mitigate these impacts as far
as possible.

Organisational structure
The Linde Group (owns 50.47% of Afrox and has a 56.08% beneficial interest due to the treasury shares)
Linde is a global company focused on gases, engineering and technology solutions. It employs approximately 63 500 people
in more than 100 countries. The strategy of The Linde Group is geared towards long-term, profitable growth and focuses on
the expansion of its international business with forward-looking products and services. Linde acts responsibly towards its
shareholders, business partners, employees, society and the environment – in every one of its business areas, regions and
locations across the globe. Linde is committed to technologies and products that unite the goals of customer value and
sustainable development. For more information, visit The Linde Group online at www.linde.com.

Atmospheric Gases (MPG)

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG)

General Manager: Dave Shaw

General Manager: Mark Radford

These products are supplied directly from our air separation units
(ASUs) to industrial consumers and are also liquefied for bulk
delivery to merchant customers or compressed and distributed
in high pressure cylinders to end users.

LPG is supplied to market through our MPG operations. LPG is
sold in bulk to all major sectors of the South African market.
Packaged LPG (LPG in cylinders) under the brand name
Handigas, is supplied to users requiring smaller volumes.

All aspects of our South African supply chain are managed
from within the MPG business, including the warehousing and
distribution of Hard Goods, sale of LPG and the regional sales
infrastructure.

Revenue
(2013: R2 132 million)

LPG and MPG filling plants (compressed cylinders) are managed
within the MPG structure.

R1 776 million

Revenue
(2013: R1 745 million)
GPADE margin
(2013: 35%)

37%

R663 million

GPADE
(2013: R610 million)

Number of employees
TRI 14 (2013: 19)
LTIR 4 (2013: 9)
MTC 10

1 725 (2013: 1 805)

2014 highlights and challenges
Volumes were generally flat and containing cost continued to
be a focus.
Construction of the new air separation unit (ASU) in Port
Elizabeth is largely complete and should be commissioned in
March 2015. This will improve customer service in the Eastern
Cape and reduce associated distribution cost.
The construction of the new cylinder filling plant in Durban
will start early in 2015. The plant will utilise the latest Linde
technology.
Shortage of CO2 continues to be a significant challenge.
Plant reliability as well as safety performance has been
satisfactory.
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R2 135 million

GPADE margin
(2013:14.6%)

14.7%

R313 million

GPADE
(2013: R311 million)

Number of employees
TRI 0
LTIR 0 (2013: 3)
MTC 0

223 (2013: 229)

2014 highlights and challenges
S ecurity of supply has improved compared to 2013 but
shortages of LPG continue to be a significant challenge.
Imports assist in security of supply but the additional cost
cannot always be recovered from customers.
T he Liquid Fuel Charter requires 25% black ownership and
Afrox is engaging with different players in the market to
evaluate the available options.
Illegal activities in the industry continue to be a concern
particularly around the associated regulatory and safety risks.
Afrox is supporting the Competition Commission enquiry into
the LPG industry as a whole.

our business

Afrox
Afrox operates in South Africa and in ten other African countries, employing 2 856 permanent employees across the
sub-Saharan region. With its head office in Johannesburg, Afrox has four main business streams: Atmospheric Gases,
Liquefied Petroleum Gas, Hard Goods, and operations in the Rest of Africa.
material matters and
strategic response

Corporate and Enabling functions
Our business is supported by the enabling functions of finance, information services, communications, human
resources management, strategy and risk and performance transformation.

Rest of Africa (REA)
General Manager: Willie Coetzee

Products are sold through the MPG regional sales infrastructure
as well as exported throughout sub-Saharan Africa.
Nearly 50% of the gas control equipment is sold as premium
performance products in Europe and Australia.

R935 million

Revenue
(2013: R993 million)

24.5%

R229 million

GPADE
(2013: R337 million)
Number of employees
TRI 2 (2013: 5)
LTIR 1(2013: 3)
MTC 1

306 (2013: 297)

2014 highlights and challenges

Gross profit after distribution expenses
Total recordable injuries
Lost time injury rate
Medical treatment case

GPADE margin
(2013: 33.7%)

35.8%

R354 million

GPADE
(2013: R322 million)

Number of employees
TRI 5 (2013: 3)
LTIR 1 (2013: 2)
MTC 4

358 (2013: 373)

2014 highlights and challenges
	
Through innovation and collaboration with Linde and an
external party, a modular air separation unit (ASU) plant
was developed to reduce water usage, with semi-automated
operation, high energy efficiency and ease of installation
and relocation.
	
Shortage of CO2, logistics and shortage of key skills remain
critical challenges.
	
The medium-term focus is on expanding Afrox’s footprint
within the current countries served, with a target of building
the REA cluster to contribute 40% of Afrox’s turnover by 2020.

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014
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GPADE
TRI
LTIR
MTC

R988 million

Revenue
(2013: R955 million)

governance and remuneration

The roll-out of SmoothFloTM to the Nordic region, United
Kingdom, Australia and Canada was done according to
schedule and continues to receive good customer response.
T he release of a new medical integrated valve is planned for
the first quarter of 2015.
The new range of products for the retail distributors will be
the focus for 2015.
T he industrial action in the mining and metal industries had
a significant impact on performance.
Inventory management has been a focus with stockholding
showing an improvement.

Afrox’s REA business comprises the central management support
structure for Afrox subsidiaries and Linde-owned, Afrox
managed businesses outside of South Africa. These subsidiaries
supply the full range of Afrox products. Afrox’s key African
subsidiaries include:
Zambia (70%);
Botswana (100%);
Namibia (100%);
Lesotho (100%);
Swaziland (100%);
Malawi (79%); and
Mozambique (100%).

performance review

GPADE margin
(2013: 33.9%)

leadership review

Hard Goods
General Manager: Nazmi Adams

Geographical footprint

Legend

Afrox-owned
1. South Africa
2. Namibia
3. Botswana
4. Mozambique
5. Angola (In process of closing)
6. Zambia
7. Malawi
8. Mauritius (associated company)
9.	Democratic Republic
of Congo
10. Lesotho
11. Swaziland

16

15

14

9

Linde-owned,
managed by Afrox

13

5

12
2

4

3

8
11

1

10

Packaged gases, supplied to customers in cylinders, are used for
applications that include industrial, mining, commercial, domestic,
scientific and medical activities. The range of products available is
dictated by the wide range of applications.
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Zimbabwe
Tanzania
Kenya
Uganda
Nigeria

Material matters determination
process

Building on the material matters in our 2013 integrated
report, we have considered a variety of factors in deciding
on the material matters covered in this report, including:
relevant concerns raised by stakeholders;

Afrox’s materiality determination process largely conforms
to the International Integrated Reporting Council’s guidance.
Commentary on each of the underlying factors that informed
the materiality determination process is discussed below.
The material matters are presented on page 17.

material matters and
strategic response

Afrox defines material matters for reporting purposes as
items that substantially affect Afrox’s ability to create and
sustain value over the short, medium and long-term. These
are the matters that are most material to the business and
are therefore the items that this report focuses on.

	
key risks as per the Afrox Risk Management Framework;
and
	
matters considered to be key to our strategy and business
environment.

our business

Determining materiality

leadership review
performance review

2013 reports
Business environment
and strategy
Enterprise risk management
framework

governance and remuneration

Various forms of
stakeholder engagement
Materiality ﬁlter
Prioritised material issues
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Determining materiality continued

Risk management
The Board is responsible for risk management and is assisted
in its responsibilities by the Audit Committee. The day-today responsibilities for the design and implementation of
risk management processes and systems lies with
management.
A Risk Management Policy, an enterprise-wide Risk
Management Framework and a Risk Management Plan are
all in place and are regularly reviewed. Risks are updated
quarterly into the Active Risk Management database.
Risks are assessed in terms of impact and probability against
defined criteria in line with the risk tolerance set by the
Board. A risk owner is assigned and is responsible for
implementing and tracking progress on the mitigation
plans. Key risks are escalated and reviewed by the
Audit Committee and reported on to the Board three times
a year.
Afrox’s assessment of business risks and opportunities
considers not only the technical risks but also the developing
geo-political, economic and customer trends. Risks are
classified as pure or speculative, allowing for refinement of
the mitigation strategy and for improved decision making on
risks that previously might not have been viewed as within
Afrox’s risk tolerance. The business model on page 6 provides
context for the issues apparent in the environment in which
Afrox operates. Comprehensive insurance is in place and
extent of the cover is reviewed annually.

Afrox provides information to both our internal and external
auditors as part of their audit to assess the effectiveness of
risk management. Our internal audit function also reviews
risk management practices as part of the internal audit cycle.
In the year under review, there have been no changes to the
impact and probability thresholds in the Risk Management
Framework.

Management of safety, health, environment and
quality (SHEQ) risk
The Board is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness
and efficiency of the SHEQ process. SHEQ performance is
governed through self-regulation, and the communication
and encouraging of adherence to safe practices. A SHEQ
department ensures that the Company has a deliverable
policy, is pro-active in its risk assessment and professional
in its remediation.
Executive managers review the SHEQ policy regularly, which
is a key part of overall Company strategy and operating
policy. The policy states that Afrox will develop its SHEQ
capabilities to world-class standards by manufacturing,
marketing and supplying quality products that are safe and
do not pose a risk to people or to the environment. In
addition, Afrox is committed to compliance with all external
regulations as well as ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHS 18001.
For more information on our SHEQ activities, refer to
page 40.

Summarised top five risks

Summarised risks mitigation plan

1. No significant recovery in demand foreseen in South Africa
for 2015/16
2. Significant portion of CO2 sourced from one of our major
supply source with limited growth capacity
3. LPG security of supply as local refineries age and as the
impact of the clean fuel charter develops
4.BBBEE status under the new codes published by the dti
5. N
 ew sources of Natural Gas (NG) being developed making
NG a viable energy source and Liquid Natural Gas (LNG)
an opportunity

1. Focus on cost control and restructuring programme and
pursue growth opportunities in REA
2. Work to diversify sources of supply and to optimise use of
current source
3. Work to develop economic LPG import channels including
appropriately located storage facilities
4. Detailed plans being prepared to ensure Afrox attains a
level 7 contributor status in the first year of assessment
under the new codes
5. Ensure Afrox appropriately positioned to benefit from
the growth in both NG and LNG and that Afrox actively
participates in the value chain

12 I
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Stakeholder communication embodies the principles of
balanced reporting, clarity and openness. Positive and
negative aspects of financial and non-financial information
are provided. We maintain an active dialogue with key
financial audiences, including institutional shareholders,
investment analysts and our funding community.

The table below outlines the different methods of stakeholder engagement and the material matters that were identified
through the engagement process.
Stakeholder
group

Material matter

Strategic area

	
Supply chain
reliability,
efficiency and
cost base
(page 18)
	
Decline in volume
demand and
increasing
competition and
lack of growth in
the South African
market
(page 20)
	
Afrox’s BBBEE
rating (page 21)

R

governance and remuneration

	
Earnings per share
expectations,
including
improvements in
operating margins to
achieve a 20%
EBITDA margin in
the medium-term
	
Sustainable financial
returns and
investment profile,
wherein reputational
risk is managed
	
Exploiting the
potential in the Rest
of Africa (REA)
	
Transparency and
up-to-date
information available
and communicated
	
Transformation,
including BBBEE
requirements and
succession planning

performance review

R

	Results distribution via the
integrated report and the
annual financial statements
	
Formal presentation of
the results twice yearly
	
SENS announcements
on the JSE
	
Supplementary media
releases covering
developments within
the Company
	
Ongoing interactions
with funders
	
Annual rating agency
assessment of
creditworthiness
	
Regular opportunities for
one-on-one meetings
between shareholders,
analysts and executive
directors

Concerns raised

leadership review

Shareholders,
lenders and
market analysts
are key as they
provide financial
capital

Engagement method

material matters and
strategic response

Afrox acknowledges its duty to stakeholders. This diverse
group includes shareholders, employees, the investment
community, customers, suppliers, business partners and the
broader society from which the Company derives its income.
The success of our business is for the benefit of these
stakeholders and effective engagement with these
influential groups is of great importance to Afrox.

our business

Stakeholder engagement

Achieve a step change in profitability and operating performance

Embed advanced safety, health, environment and quality
Build a performance culture

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014
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Ensure sustainable growth while enhancing competitiveness

Stakeholder engagement continued

Stakeholder
group

Engagement method

Customers and
business partners
form part of the
driving force
behind the
development
and delivery
of products,
technologies and
support services
that we provide
Meeting and
exceeding
customer
requirements are
key to future
sustainability

14 I

	
Product brochures, a
comprehensive product
manual and CDs for
electronically enabled
customers are supplied
through Afrox’s website
	
Specialist media publications
used to promote our products
	
Our sales force is in constant
contact with our current and
prospective customers
	
As part of a global customer
experience programme, we
are building towards a more
formalised customer focus
programme that addresses
the customer experience at
a strategic and tactical level.
Well-established key
performance indicators drive
operational improvements to
support customer service
	
Customer surveys are
conducted by the National
Customer Service Centre
(NCSC), to obtain customer
feedback on service
Members of executive
management, have ongoing
interactions with key
customers

Concerns raised
	
Reliability of supply
	
Rationale behind
price increases
	
Innovative solutions
including product and
technical expertise
	
Incorporation of
BBBEE requirements
into supply chain
and procurement
processes
	Customer surveys
indicate that
innovation and
technical expertise
are key
differentiators
	Customer service/
query management
(ability to find
solutions)
	Delivery process
(delivery time,
reliability, notification
of delays)

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

Material matter
	
Supply chain
reliability,
efficiency and
cost base
(page 18)
	
Decline in volume
demand and
increasing
competition and
lack of growth in
South African
market
(page 20)
	
Growth in
intellectual
property as well
as research and
development
capabilities
(page 22)
	
Afrox’s BBBEE
rating (page 21)

Strategic area
R

our business

Stakeholder
group

Regular meetings with:
	
Department of Mineral
Resources
	
Department of Trade and
Industry (dti)
	
Department of Energy
	
Department of Health
Department of Education

Material matter

	
Update on Company
strategy and
challenges
	
Fair pay and incentive
structures
	
Employee
empowerment and
career progression
	
Job certainty
	
Compliance with
BBBEE and
employment equity
requirements
	
Continuous review
and monitoring of
driver hours in the
distribution fleet to
reduce fatigue and
increase safety

	
Access and
retention of vital
talent, including
employment
equity targets
(page 21)
	
Maintain and
improve the
safety culture
(page 22)

	
Compliance with
BBBEE legislation and
impact of new codes
on Afrox’s current
level 3 rating and
those of our key
competitors
	
Empowering supplier
status under the new
BBBEE codes
	
Appropriate service
levels to state
hospitals
	
Compliance with
sector charters
	
Medicine Controls
Council (MCC)
requirements

	
Afrox’s level 3
BBBEE rating
(page 21)

	
Responsible
citizenship, especially
regarding safety and
supporting education
	
Employment
opportunities for
members of the
communities in which
Afrox operates

	
Access and
retention of vital
talent, including
employment
equity targets
(page 21)
	
Maintain and
improve the
safety culture
(page 22)

Strategic area
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governance and remuneration

	
Corporate social investment
programme. Additional
information can be accessed
on Afrox’s website (at
http://www.afrox.co.za/
en/investor_relations/
Index.html.)

Concerns raised

performance review

Communities and
NGOs are providers
of Afrox’s social
licence to operate

	
Quarterly meetings with the
unions to engage on topical
matters and challenges in the
business and address any
potential union concerns
	
Monthly site shop steward
meetings to address site
specific matters
	
Regular shop floor talks, team
and management briefings
	
Internal newsletters and
publications
	
E-mail communications from
executives
	
Bi-annual executive
roadshows

leadership review

Government and
regulators are
providers of
Afrox’s legal
licence to operate

Engagement method

material matters and
strategic response

Employees and
unions are key to
our ability to
provide product
offerings through
high value
solutions

Stakeholder engagement continued

Consumer relations
Product labelling

	
We discharge our duty of care via appropriate communication of potential risks and hazards
associated with the use of our products.
	
The global, internal guideline IMS-34-02 regulates the new product introduction process.
With this guidance, Afrox ensures that the following aspects are considered before introducing
new products:
– Group, national and international requirements and laws
– Safety, health, environmental and quality (SHEQ) legislation and Linde standards, e.g. supplier
appraisals, provision of Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS), labels, etc
– Control of SHEQ product lifecycle risks

Product education

	
We take a holistic view of product stewardship, encouraging all stakeholders in the extended
lifecycle of our products to take shared responsibility for minimising impacts associated with
the production, delivery, use and end-of-life disposal of our products.
	
We seek to establish whether the necessary safety procedures are in place and as far as
reasonably possible to warn, educate and give information to customers about certain risks
associated with the material usage, handling and storage of the products.

Product marketing

	
Our product marketing promotes, protects and enhances the brand value of Afrox. All Afrox’s
marketing materials, as well as packaging, complies with the South African Consumer Act.
	
All products’ MSDSs are available on the internet and reference to such is displayed
appropriately on all marketing materials. The language used in all marketing materials is aimed
at a grade 8 level of education and warning signs are used for those that cannot read.
No misleading information is used in marketing our products.

Product registration

	
Products are evaluated and registered with the relevant bodies prior to being marketed.
	
In addition to approvals, all our products qualify in regard to environmental, safety and health
department regulations. Some of the standards that have to be taken into consideration include
British Compressed Gas Association, British Occupational Health and Safety Management
Systems, Compressed Gas Association, European Industrial Gas Association, SANS 10232-3:2011
and the South African National Standards.
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Material matter

Term
impact

our business

Material matters
Contextualisation of risks and
opportunities

Strategic response

Page
reference

S

	
It remains a significant risk that the
increase in number and duration of
strikes could possibly negatively
impact Afrox’s relationships with
our employees. This could
potentially reduce labour
harmony, decrease productivity,
result in poor customer service and
product shortages
	
Political and civil campaigns
could have an adverse effect
on logistics, which in turn would
have a negative impact on
customer satisfaction and the
costs of our products

Build a performance culture among
our people that will deliver superior
customer service and
competitiveness
	
Relationships and transparency
with employees and unions
remains a priority – especially
during periods of change
	
Afrox has clear policies dealing
with intimidation, risk to staff
and assets
	
Afrox has a robust industrial action
contingency plan in place to
ensure that there is a limited
disruption to service to the
customer during these periods
of strike action. Lessons learned
during recent industrial action are
incorporated into new plans

Page 43

Execution of the
restructuring
programme

S

	
In any material restructuring,
numerous risks arise including
demotivation of employees, losing
critical resources, loss of customer
focus and the overarching risk that
the restructuring programme does
not meet its objectives within the
expected timeframe

	
To mitigate these risks,
management consultants have
been appointed to validate the
opportunities and to assist in the
development of action plans
	
They will facilitate a weekly
review of the programme
including the mitigation of risks
through a properly structured
programme office. The programme
office will report to a steering
committee comprising key
members of The Linde Group and
senior Afrox executives who will
be responsible for the overall
governance. The Board will
receive regular updates
	
The risks directly relating to
employees will be mitigated
through the speed of
implementation, ongoing
communication and appropriate
change management initiatives

Page 34
performance review
governance and remuneration

L – Long-term (more than 36 months).

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

I 17

summarised consolidated financial
statements and other information

M – Medium-term (13 – 36 months)

leadership review

S – Short-term (0 – 12 months)

material matters and
strategic response

Increase in political
and civil
dissatisfaction
resulting in an
increase in
industrial action
in South Africa

Material matters continued

Material matter
Supply chain
reliability,
efficiency and
cost base

Term
impact
S, M

S – Short-term (0 – 12 months)

18 I

Contextualisation of risks and
opportunities
	
Afrox has a high level of fixed costs
derived from our large footprint
and capital base. Therefore,
margins are under pressure as the
continued negative volume
growth trend is expected to
continue into the medium-term.
We expect there to be a lack of
growth in the South African
economy in the sectors we serve.
Optimising selling and
administrative costs remains
essential for Afrox to achieve
a step change in profitability.
Improving asset utilisation, plant
availability and reliability is
also key
	
Electricity and other energy cost
increases have a material impact
on Afrox’s cost base. Price changes
are applied by external suppliers
and are mostly uncontrollable; the
opportunity lies in ensuring
continuous improvement in our
processes through innovation and
optimisation to drive efficiency
	
The reliability of LPG supply is at
risk due to the inability of local
refineries to meet current and
future demand. Inadequate
national LPG strategic storage is
also a risk
	
The reliability of CO2 supply is at
risk due to our primary reliance
on a single source to supply our
southern African power zones. This
is an issue of concern considering
the growing demand in the region
for CO2
	
Incorporation of BBBEE
requirements into the supply chain
and procurement process further
increases supply risk

M – Medium-term (13 – 36 months)

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

Strategic response
Achieve a step change in
profitability and operating
performance
	
A strategic review of our footprint
and associated costs is being
undertaken due to the
deteriorating trading conditions
in the South African market
	
Implemented integrated business
lines to drive revenue, costs and
asset efficiency and to identify
areas where costs can be
optimised
	
Afrox is renewing efforts to gain
additional volume as well as
ensuring a continued focus on
customer retention
	
Utilising supply chain experts
within The Linde Group to identify
opportunities for optimising the
supply chain
	
New plants are designed to be
more energy efficient
	
We are evaluating opportunities
to partner with government
agencies, refineries and other
strategic partners to build strategic
storage for LPG. This will facilitate
importation and allow for the
build-up of stocks during periods
of product surplus. Progress on
these options under evaluation is
also linked to our BBBEE
ownership strategy
	
We are investigating alternative
CO2 supply sources in South Africa
and emerging African countries.
We are upgrading the capacity of
the Afrox facility at National
Chemical Products (NCP)
(increasing strategic storage) as
well as investigating options to
improve processing of selected
supplier streams

L – Long-term (more than 36 months).

Page
reference
Page 35

our business

Material matter

S, M

Strategic response

Page 35

governance and remuneration

M – Medium-term (13 – 36 months)

Achieve a step change in
profitability and operating
performance
Investigating new growth
opportunities and markets, including
alternatives to electricity supply in
the hospitality sector

performance review

	
LPG costs are regulated and priced
by reference to the crude oil price.
Fluctuations in the exchange rate
and crude oil prices have
significant impacts on the LPG
input cost. Fluctuations in cost
items, including labour cost, have
a corresponding impact on the LPG
sales price. As an example, during
the last quarter of the financial
year, due to the rapid drop in
international crude oil prices and
the consequential lowering of
regulated LPG prices, product
write-downs totalling R12 million
were made in November and
December 2014
	
Any increase in the LPG sales price
can increase revenue, but at the
same time it increases the risk of
substitutes (e.g. customers
replacing LPG with coal), which
results in a volume decline.
Alternatively, decreases in the
selling price of LPG can increase
demand, but the volume increase
may not necessarily compensate
for the loss of revenue resulting
from the sales price decrease
	
LPG operating margins generally
improve in a low LPG-price
environment and decline as LPG
prices increase
	
Afrox’s ability to maintain a fixed
monetary amount per kilogram
sold in a significantly lower LPG
price environment, remains a
considerable challenge

Page
reference

leadership review

S – Short-term (0 – 12 months)

Contextualisation of risks and
opportunities

material matters and
strategic response

Government
regulation of
significant revenue
segments

Term
impact

L – Long-term (more than 36 months).
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Material matters continued

Term
impact

Material matter
Decline in volume
demand and
increasing
competition and
lack of growth in
South African
market

S, M

S – Short-term (0 – 12 months)

20 I

Contextualisation of risks and
opportunities
	
Continued negative volume trend
expected well into 2016 and will
continue to place pressure on net
margins given fixed cost structures
	
Traditional and non-traditional
competitors are entering the
market. If Afrox is unable to ensure
that customer service levels
positively differentiate it from
competitors it could limit pricing
premiums, limit growth
opportunities and ultimately lead
to loss of market share
	
It is essential that Afrox keep its
first-mover advantage in key
African geographies, which
requires that growth projects are
timeously and efficiently
executed. The first-mover
advantage is key to capturing
growth in constrained markets and
remains a significant opportunity
	
Increased competitor capacity
could lead to increased pressure
on pricing
	
Product mix and expansion into
key growth areas remains a focus
and includes pioneering new ways
to do business in Africa

M – Medium-term (13 – 36 months)
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Strategic response

Page
reference

Achieve a step change in
profitability and operating
performance
	
Focusing on customer service to
ensure the continued support of
the Afrox and related brands, and
ensuring appropriate selling prices
	
The ASU project in the Eastern
Cape is in the execution phase
while the opportunities in
KwaZulu-Natal and Gauteng
are progressing

Page 35

Ensure sustainable growth while
enhancing competitiveness
	
Afrox remains a key player in
its market with a brand that is
synonymous with quality
	
Afrox continues to exploit
application-led growth
opportunities, including improving
the understanding of African
markets and integration of Hard
Goods production exports with
Linde global offerings
	
A steering committee manages the
REA project pipeline. Furthermore,
in-country resources have been
strengthened to ensure proper
commercialisation of projects
	
Afrox will invest in acquisitions
and/or new business ventures,
when appropriate, and roll out the
“best-in-breed” Linde processes,
which enhance performance and
reduce cost

Page 38

L – Long-term (more than 36 months).

our business

Material matter

Term
impact

Contextualisation of risks and
opportunities

Strategic response

Page
reference

S, M

	
It is vital that Afrox has adequate
bench strength to ensure we can
leverage opportunities in REA,
Hard Goods and LPG
	
Having the right people in the
right place can also positively
impact customer service levels
	
Development and retention of
skills, especially apprentices and
graduates, are vital to address the
shortage of skills risk
	
Proper succession planning is
a key requirement for the
sustainability of Afrox
	
Employment equity targets and
retention of people from
designated groups remains an
area that requires continued focus
	
Increased risk of losing scarce
skills and employment equity (EE)
employees during rightsizing of
the organisation

Build a performance culture among
our people that will deliver superior
customer service and
competitiveness
	
Succession planning process was
re-launched during 2014 and gaps
and potential candidates have
been identified for critical skills
and management levels
	
The talent retention strategy will
be revised in light of rightsizing
activities to minimise the potential
loss of high performers, EE
candidates and critical skills
	
There are options to fast track
identified high performers to
ensure readiness over the next
two years for critical senior level
roles. This will assist in meeting
employment equity targets not yet
met at senior management level
	
Good progress was made with
bursary and graduate
development. Artisan
development programmes are
also in place

Page 43

Afrox’s BBBEE
rating

S, M

	
Compliance with BBBEE legislation
and sector charters is a nonnegotiable requirement.
Ownership credentials are not
adequate when compared to
competitors targeting stateowned enterprise opportunities
(specifically Hard Goods and LPG)
	
The new dti codes will be a
challenge and the change in
customers’ expectations arising
from the new codes needs to
ascertained

Ensure sustainable growth while
enhancing competitiveness
	
The impact of the amendments to
the dti codes (to be implemented
in April 2015) on the Afrox
scorecard has been evaluated and
plans are being developed to
ensure the best possible rating
is obtained given the current
circumstances
	
The Board has set an objective
of being measured at a level 7
contributor in the first year of
measurement under the new
codes

Page 38

governance and remuneration
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L – Long-term (more than 36 months).
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performance review

M – Medium-term (13 – 36 months)

leadership review

S – Short-term (0 – 12 months)

material matters and
strategic response

Access and
retention of vital
talent, including
meeting
employment
equity targets

Material matters continued

Term
impact

Material matter

Contextualisation of risks and
opportunities

Strategic response

Page
reference

Maintain and
improve the safety
culture

S, M, L

	
Any loss of life or form of injury
caused by safety, health,
environmental or product quality
incidents is unacceptable. We take
our duty of care seriously, with
regard to our employees, the
environment and the products
we produce
	
The negative impact of a SHEQ
incident on operational flexibility
and output remains a significant
risk. In addition, incidents bring
about the risk of penalties, injuries
and environmental pollution
	
There is increasing enforcement of
safety and quality standards by
the authorities, both locally and in
REA. Improved safety awareness
and practices can enhance
competitiveness and the
attractiveness of the business in
the eyes of investors
	
Poor road conditions increase the
risk of truck accidents
	
Afrox can by default be associated
with poor SHEQ practices due to
illegal LPG filling and trading in
Afrox cylinders

Embed advanced performance in
areas of safety, health, environment
and quality (SHEQ)
	
SHEQ initiatives aimed at
embedding a safety culture in line
management, with a well-defined
SHEQ strategy for 2013 – 2016 and
associated plans. This includes
training and regular reporting of
progress against the strategy.
The current trends on safety KPIs
are encouraging
	
The maintenance and replacement
of vehicles is ongoing, ensuring
vehicles are fit for purpose.
A driver training programme is
still in place
	
Afrox continues to run public
awareness campaigns on the
dangers of illegal LPG filling and
has an ongoing policy of taking
legal action against traders
illegally filling its Handigas
cylinders. We also have a
‘whistleblower’ facility where the
public can provide details of illegal
fillers and resellers, against whom
Afrox takes legal action upon
completion of evidence-gathering
investigations

Page 40

Growth in
intellectual
property as well as
research and
development
capabilities

M, L

Liquid Natural gas (LNG) can be a
viable alternative energy source to
LPG and it is important that Afrox
responds to this opportunity
and risk adequately and timeously
	
Given the low to negative growth
in the local economy, the
development of new products
through innovative solutions and
product expertise remains a
critical focus

Ensure sustainable growth while
enhancing competitiveness
	
A task team has been established,
in conjunction with Linde clean
energy resource division, to
evaluate opportunities in LNG
for Afrox
	
The investigation into different
LNG market opportunities and
market assessments is underway
	
We are leveraging and speeding
up the development of new
products, with an emphasis on
global markets, and currently
benefit from the first-mover
advantage in the REA business

Page 38

S – Short-term (0 – 12 months)
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L – Long-term (more than 36 months).

our business
material matters and
strategic response
leadership review
performance review
governance and remuneration

We will leverage
off our leading
position in the subSahara region and
take advantage of
the growing levels
of foreign direct
investment in
various sectors.
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Chairman’s review

Mike Huggon
Chairman and acting Managing Director

Dear stakeholder
We started 2014 with the expectation that growth in the
South African economy would assist us to deliver on our
strategic objectives of achieving a step change in profits,
operating performance and sustainable growth. This
expected growth did not materialise and we did not
achieve all our objectives.
As a result, Afrox commenced remedial action to reduce
overheads and flatten the management structure. We
are conducting reviews of our geographic footprint,
distribution network as well as our business and product
portfolios to ensure the Company profile mirrors the
customers’ needs and that our products are competitively
and cost-effectively delivered.
I feel the need to restructure is not only prudent but
urgent as expectations are that the economy will continue
to under-perform in the short-term with the International
Monetary Fund (IMF) revising both their 2015 and 2016
growth forecasts downwards. What is also at issue is that
what growth there is, is unlikely to be in the sectors
affecting demand for Afrox’s products. The recent
load-shedding and lack of electricity generating capacity
in South Africa is not conducive to economic growth and
will prove disruptive to industry, in terms of both output

24 I
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and capital investment in operations, in the short to
medium-term. Combining the impact of these issues with
an increase in industrial action will mean achieving
sustained growth will be challenging.
Our mandate now is to ensure sustainable growth in this
tough and unpredictable environment by embracing
change in all its aspects and at every level. To achieve this
we need to become even more customer centric, more
flexible and responsive to customer needs. We also need
to speedily make and execute the tough decisions given
that our current operating structures and strategies are
not delivering robustly enough.

Economic and performance review
Uncertainty in the economy and low GDP growth in South
Africa continued to impact negatively on demand for our
products in key sectors. Conditions are likely to remain
challenging for the foreseeable future, particularly in
the key manufacturing, fabrication, mining and steel
production sectors of the South African economy. The high
price of oil and related products for the early part of
2014, escalating electricity tariffs, coupled to the
continued weakness in the Rand, generated further
pressures across the economic spectrum.

The operations of illegal fillers also continue to plague the
LPG industry and we welcome the Competition Commission
enquiry into this market.

Our efforts to embed advanced safety, health, environment
and quality performance are progressing as are our
endeavours to build a performance culture, a strategy
which will grow in importance in line with the changes
being made to the organisation as we tighten structures and
operations to raise our EBITDA margin to 20%. I refer you to
the Financial Director’s statement on pages 28 to 32 for
further detail.

Strategic overview
The introduction in 2013 of integrated reporting lines paid
good dividends in terms of greater clarity and understanding
of our cost structure. Our aim of improved profitability and
margins was disappointingly hampered, however, by the
various factors I have outlined above. This has necessitated
an evolutionary step change in our operating model to
further reduce overheads and collapse structures to provide
the necessary impetus to achieve our medium-term EBITDA
margin target of 20%.
Our focus will be to maximise every possible advantage of
being a member of The Linde Group to drive customer
service, safety, asset efficiency and optimising costs, which
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A mild winter resulted in demand for Liquefied Petroleum
Gas (LPG) remaining generally flat. The fall in the price of
crude oil in the fourth quarter of 2014 had little to no impact
on the LPG business in this financial year but we can expect
challenges in terms of this packaged gas product in 2015
as continued local shortages and lack of national import
storage facilities hamper growth prospects in this sector.

to secure our position in this market.

governance and remuneration

Higher input costs at our factories placed us under pressure
due to the continued weakness of the Rand, and demand for
Hard Goods was adversely impacted by the longest strike on
record in the mining sector.

An area of concern remains a shortage of carbon dioxide
(CO2) and we are investigating additional sources of supply

performance review

Economic conditions in the rest of sub-Saharan Africa are
showing positive growth trends, averaging 5%, with
continued foreign direct investment in automotive, mining
and oil and gas sectors following on the heels of improved
governance regulation and more transparent fiscal policies
being enacted by governments in both East and West Africa.

Overall, demand for Atmospheric Gases also remained flat,
reflecting the economic trend in our main market of South
Africa. Our new 150 tonne a day ASU in the Eastern Cape,
the epicentre of South Africa’s motoring industry, was
officially launched this year and is expected to start
supplying customers early in 2015, which will improve
security of supply for the region while also lowering
operating and distribution costs.

leadership review

By January 2015, the IMF cut South Africa’s economic growth
forecast to 2.1% from 2.3%, the third consecutive cut in
12 months, and cut the 2016 growth forecast from 2.8% to
2.5%. To combat this downward trend, we aim to speedily
complete changes to our operating model by the end of
2015 and we made provision to fund this in the 2014
financial statements.

Our business in the rest of Africa remains a focus but returns
remained generally flat in the face of slow national
infrastructure and electricity generation investment and
delivery in the countries where we operate.

material matters and
strategic response

South Africa’s credit rating downgrade by Moody’s, followed
by the downgrading of power utility Eskom and government
development institutions, the Development Bank of
Southern Africa and the Industrial Development Corporation
of South Africa, as well as five of South Africa’s leading
commercial banks, had a negative effect on business
confidence. Confidence was further undermined by the
five-month strike in the mining sector, which had harsh
consequences for the country’s finances and global
standing, and was discouraging for investors.

our business

Our mandate now is to ensure sustainable growth in this tough and
unpredictable environment by embracing change in all its aspects
and at every level.

Chairman’s review continued

are essential elements to capture any new profitable growth
and retain existing market share. We will leverage off our
leading position in the sub-Sahara region and take
advantage of the growing levels of foreign direct investment
in the oil and gas, mining, automotive, healthcare and
hospitality sectors as well as planned infrastructure
development, projected to reach US$180 billion a year by
20251. We are mindful of the recent collapse in the price of
crude oil and the Ebola outbreak, which may have serious
consequences, on the economies of both East and West
Africa in the short to medium-term.
Afrox’s many decades of experience in the sub-Sahara
region means we will continue to pursue our strategies there
in ways that are cost-effective, innovative and competitive.
Our eyes are firmly fixed on conservative and sustainable
medium to long-term investment and expansion, due to the
political uncertainty and violent instability which, tragically,
continues to plague this region.

Compliance
Afrox’s Social, Ethics and Transformation (SET) Committee
is in its second year and I am happy to report continuous

we face is getting the balance right in the short to mediumterm; a position your Board has under serious consideration.
We have conducted training across all units on ethics,
anti-corruption, and business partner compliance. Good
governance is at the heart of what we stand for and the
following measures have also been implemented:
	
a business partner appointment and due diligence
integrated into procurement processes;
	
a trade compliance survey implemented to identify and
assess export control risk;
a trade compliance manager appointed;
	
a project initiated to implement denied party screening;
and
	
a Compliance and Ethics Management Committee,
reporting to the SET Committee, has been established.
Afrox remains committed to good corporate citizenship
and, as such, we are focused on furthering our already
considerable support for the development of welding
capability in technical high schools in South Africa when the
Department of Education’s new curriculum is implemented
in 2016.

progress on our non-financial agenda under the committee

Outlook

chair, Dr Khotso Mokhele.

Afrox will continue to operate in an economic environment
beset by volatility and low growth, both locally and globally,
and it is incumbent upon us to ensure the Group is structured
and resourced at levels appropriate to prosper under this
new reality.

We have made strenuous efforts in terms of meeting
South Africa’s Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
(BBBEE) transformation agenda, achieving level 3 status.
The promulgation of the new codes, however, brings a
whole set of new challenges and targets which are onerous
at a time the local economy and industry in general are
struggling with a multitude of economic, infrastructure and
labour relations challenges.
In terms of our South African business, we will carefully
balance the real cost to the Company of maintaining our
current BBBEE level 3 status against the realities of having to
rightsize operations in 2015. Today, a company’s BBBEE
rating is fast becoming the differentiating and deciding
factor in the awarding of many contracts and the challenge

1

 wC’s 2014 report on capital projects and infrastructure for East,
P
Southern and West Africa
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Competition is fierce and I expect this to increase
exponentially as our industry competes for an ever-shrinking
slice of new business while aggressively defending existing
market share and profitable customers.
It is my considered opinion that 2015 will be a defining year
for many South African industrial companies and that
success will only be realised through the implementation
of informed strategies in conjunction with realistic fiscal
policies. For Afrox, this means structuring ourselves to
deliver competitive returns and margins built on the back

our business

Board

Gratitude

In July, 2014, we welcomed Nomfundo Qangule to the Board
as an independent non-executive director.

I wish to thank my fellow Board members for their input,
guidance and support. I would also like to thank Afrox’s
management team, staff and our suppliers for their
continued dedication and commitment to Afrox. Lastly, but
most importantly, I thank our customers without whom we
would not exist.

In February 2015 we appointed GJ (Lean) Strauss to the
Board as an independent non-executive director.

meeting. Due to pressure of work he will not be standing for
re-election. We thank Sipho for his strategic insight during
his short term as a Board member.

Mike Huggon
Chairman and acting Managing Director

performance review

Brett Kimber resigned from his position as Afrox Managing
Director and executive director on 12 January 2015 to pursue
interests outside the Group. During his three-year tenure,
Brett brought a level of stability to the business in terms
of plant reliability, improved safety performance and a
renewed focus on key customers. We owe Brett a debt of
gratitude and wish him every success for the future.
A search for a replacement managing director is well
underway. Until a successor is identified, it was considered
to be in the best interests of the Company for me, as
Chairman, to assume his duties in the interim period.

Sipho Maseko will retire by rotation at the annual general

leadership review

Nick Thomson resigned as Financial Director on 26 February
2015 effective 31 May 2015, to take up a position as the
Group Financial Director of another listed company. We
thank him for his contribution during his three years in his
current position.
material matters and
strategic response

of exemplary and reliable service levels, off a reduced cost
base, while delivering innovative products and solutions
which promote a climate of positive customer confidence.
We will continue to seek cost reduction opportunities,
ensure our plants operate to world-class standards, drive
innovation through the launch of new products, especially
in the Hard Goods business, enhance our working capital
management to free up cash for investment and, critically,
continuously assess all aspects of our supply chain, footprint
and ease of doing business with us.

governance and remuneration
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Financial Director’s review

Nick Thomson
Financial Director

Overview

The need to restructure

In last year’s combined Managing Director and Financial
Director’s review, we indicated that to address South
Africa Inc.’s competitive position required a coalition of
politics, labour, capital, business and strong leadership.
We did not see these pre-requisites being met in the
short-term and, consequently, expected 2014 to be at
best characterised by an environment of low growth.
What was not anticipated was a series of crippling
industrial strikes across multiple sectors of our economy,
resulting in decreased mining and industrial output for the
year and a reduction in business confidence, all having an
adverse impact.

This unfolding economic hiatus has necessitated a
prudent top-to-bottom restructure of the Company’s
South African business, with the end-goals of reducing
our selling and general and administrative overheads,
improving efficiency and enhancing our competitive
position. Achieving these goals will, in turn, restore
operating margins to levels appropriate for our business.
To this end, and with the assistance of specialist
restructuring and performance enhancement consultants,
AlixPartners, we are undertaking a comprehensive review
of our:
	
leadership structure;
	
integrated business lines;
	
product and business portfolios;
	
channels to market;
	
geographic footprint; and
	appropriateness of our key plants and distribution
network.

The key challenge for Afrox remains a weak South African
market where it is difficult to see any meaningful growth
in the medium-term. Power utility Eskom is failing to meet
electricity demand and this is having adverse effects
across all sectors of the economy, with already low
growth forecasts being revised even further downward to
beyond 2016. Couple this to rising electricity tariffs and a
volatile strike-driven labour market, and the outlook in
real terms for the South African economy is not
encouraging.
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The review is expected to be complete and fully
implemented by the end of the third quarter of 2015. The
sustainable benefits we will derive from this programme
include a business fit-for-purpose, more agile, focused on

channels to market and the associated optimisation of our
production capacity and distribution network progresses.

One of the areas identified for sale or closure prior to the
end of this reporting period was one of our Hard Goods
manufacturing facilities. We have, accordingly, made a
provision of R20 million against the stock at this facility as
it is considered unlikely we can realise all the stock held
prior to the facility’s closure or through sale to a third party.

The outcome of the restructure and related process changes,
although painful in execution, will result in a confident
business best suited to the prevailing economic conditions,
capable of meeting future challenges and opportunities
through intense customer/market focus and financially
sustainable product and service offerings.

Restructuring costs provided for in 2014 amount to:

Performance highlights

R’m
125

Total

185

40
20

We have undertaken a review of goodwill and based on the
prevailing economic conditions, fully impaired all goodwill
arising from the purchase of various distribution networks in
prior years. This impairment amounted to R17 million in the
Group accounts.

Revenue at R5 834 million (2013: R5 825 million) was flat
when compared to 2013. This is despite inflationary price
increases and reflects decreased demand for our products
and the impact on the selling price of LPG following the
reduction in international oil prices in the last quarter of
2014 (see page 76).
The key metric of EBITDA, at R818 million (2013: R880 million)
was 7% below 2013 reflecting the impact of no revenue
growth combined with the inflationary increase in costs.
African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014
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We have also impaired several items of plant and
equipment, which by year-end we had identified as being
areas where we would not be continuing activities in the
future. These impairments totalled R35 million. Further
impairments and possible onerous contracts (for rented
accommodation) may arise as the review of our integrated
business lines, product portfolio, geographic footprint and

Due to the restructuring costs and the prevailing economic
and trading conditions, as outlined above, headline earnings
per share were 62% lower than those of 2013 while
earnings per share were 73% lower. The most significant
driver of this reduced performance was the impact of the
once-off charges for restructuring provisions and the
associated impairments, totalling R237 million
(see The need to restructure section, page 34).

governance and remuneration

Provision for reduction in staff complement
Provision for consulting assistance during
restructuring process
Stock write down

performance review

We are also re-assessing our planned investment in our new
filling plant in Durban. The original plan was to establish the
new plant on the Cornubia site north of Durban, purchased
two years ago. However, we are now reconsidering this
proposal and will make a decision shortly on whether to
develop a reduced scale operation on rented land without a
dissolved acetylene plant. The cost of this alternative will be
far lower than the current plan and would allow the disposal
of the Cornubia site, recovering R111 million of invested
capital, and avoiding an additional R94.7 million in capital
investment to develop site infrastructure.

leadership review

Due to the planned significant reduction in headcount, we
have provided for the associated costs in 2014. Therefore, in
accordance with the accounting standards which deal with
this type of provision (IAS 37: Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets and IAS 19: Employee
benefits) we have raised a provision of R125 million to meet
the cash cost of this retrenchment programme. In addition,
we have provided a further R40 million in anticipation of the
external consulting support we have had and will continue
to utilise during this process.

material matters and
strategic response

our customer needs and generating returns that will meet
stakeholder expectations and ensure our ability to re-invest
on an ongoing basis.

our business

The outcome of the restructure and related process changes will
result in a confident business capable of meeting future challenges
and opportunities.

Finance Director’s review continued
The EBITDA margin at 14% (2013: 15%) was disappointing
and a prime motivator in the decision to restructure. However,
what was extremely positive was that despite an inflation cost
basket of labour, electricity and general cost increases of over
7%, we managed to contain our overall cost increases to 1.6%
excluding restructuring costs.

Embed advanced safety, health,
environment and quality (SHEQ)
performance

Performance against our strategic
objectives

progress against the strategy (see pages 40 to 42). Each

Afrox continues to improve in all areas of its strategic
objectives, except those relating to profitability. However, it
is now imperative to achieve a step change in the speed of
execution and delivery in our profitability and operating
performance. Volume growth remains hampered (see
page 36), therefore we have not pinned expectations for
improved profitability on the back of significant volume
recoveries, but have adopted a strong cost reduction and
operational efficiency focus.

Ensure sustainable growth while
enhancing competitiveness
We are embarking on a restructuring programme (see
The need to restructure section, page 34) that will deliver a
strong customer-driven organisation, which will continue to
seek out opportunities and defend market share while
addressing the effects of a high fixed cost business with
a large distribution footprint. We are confident this
programme will ensure we are making good progress
against this strategy. In this respect, we also continued to
complete our capital investment programme and good
progress was achieved with our new Port Elizabeth air
separation unit (ASU). By the end of the financial year all
civil work had been completed, the cold box installed and
related piping and storage completed with commercial
operation expected in late quarter one 2015.

Build a performance culture

Afrox introduced SHEQ initiatives and a well-defined
strategy and associated plans which will take us through
to 2016. These include training and regular reporting of
employee is personally responsible for SHEQ on our sites.
Managers are expected to demonstrate visible leadership in
implementing the SHEQ agenda. Due to this critical focus,
our position on SHEQ continues to improve, with major
incidents down 25%, further curtailing related vehicle
damage/replacement costs, and contributing to improved
DIFOT levels of 94% for the year for industrial gases (see
page 36). Afrox remains committed to delivering on its no
harm to the environment policy and progress is being made
on an ongoing basis (see pages 40 to 42). Afrox also
achieved multisite regional ISO 90001:2008 quality
management certification, effectively streamlining
certification in line with the Afrox business structure and
thereby cutting costs.

Business segment performance
Afrox, through the many and varied markets it serves
(see pages 8 to 10), is a barometer of the health of the real
South African economy. As a result, volumes were, with the
exception of bulk industrial gases, all lower when compared
to 2013 (see page 36). During a year characterised by
depressed demand, Afrox responded by maintaining its
focus on enhanced competitiveness, sustainability and the
rest of Africa (REA).

LPG
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) revenue was flat and volumes
were down 6% compared to 2013. Local shortages, due to
unexpected shutdowns at refineries, coupled with a planned

We continue to benchmark our performance against
The Linde Group and set clear objectives and targets.
These goals are translated into specific Company-level
performance objectives, which were complemented by
supporting personal objectives embedded in each
manager’s performance contract. This direct performance
management approach is integrated into our training and
development programme, and our Employment Equity and

maintenance shutdown of our import storage facility,

succession programmes (see pages 44 and 45).

remain a challenge. We increased the LPG cylinder pool by
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constrained our ability to meet demand for LPG in the first
quarter. Subsequently, there was only a modest recovery in
demand hampered by industrial action and a relatively mild
start to winter in South Africa. Afrox continued to import
LPG to supplement the market shortfall, in the process
effectively subsidising an element of these additional costs
as price recovery and distribution costs of imported product

our business

a further five per cent in 2014, and therefore introduced
a non-refundable rental charge to justify this additional
capital investment in LPG cylinders. The collapse in the price
of crude oil in the last quarter saw a substantial drop in the
price of LPG to customers and is expected to spark an
will not be affected, the lower costs of LPG to customers will
materially depress revenue under the prevailing crude oil
price trend. In addition, local supply constraints mean
additional imports with corresponding risks around cost
recovery. We continue to actively manage the illegal filling

Hard Goods

Output reduction at key large customers and the final

Segment revenue grew just over 3% in the year under
review. Operations in African countries outside South Africa
(see pages 9 and 10) contributed 23% (2013: 20%) of the
Group’s gross profit after distribution expenses (GPADE). The
main influence on our performance was increased logistic
costs. Due to uncertainty around key developments in REA,
arising from a combination of increasing political and
economic risk, namely the Ebola outbreak, insurgency
attacks in West and East Africa and volatility in global oil
prices, we have decelerated the roll-out of our investment
programme into the sub-Saharan region. As part of the
review of our geographical footprint, the Group has also
decided to exit Angola at this time, resulting in an initial
R11 million charge against profits in the 2014 financial year.
However, this exit cost may increase in 2015 depending on
how the exit is effected. Nevertheless, during the year under
review, we finalised the concept of micro-fill plants and
small ASUs and successfully implemented several such
investments, the initial results of which have exceeded
business case expectations.

enquiry into LPG and hope the outcome will deal a severe
blow to rogue traders undermining our volumes and profits

termination of the Evraz Highveld Steel and Vanadium
contract led to a reduction in demand for Atmospheric Gases
in this reporting period. As a result, gaseous pipeline sales
declined substantially and those of compressed gases
remained flat, reflecting the continued reduction in activity
in the manufacturing sector and the effects of strike actions
in the first and second quarters. Bulk liquid gases volumes,
however, increased nearly 8% due to new contracts
awarded during the year. Merchant CO2 volumes were
broadly in line with those achieved in 2013, despite supply
challenges arising out of feed-gas issues and power
interruptions at plants. In the healthcare sector, Medical
Atmospheric Gases volumes provided to the state and
private healthcare sector remained flat for the year. The
new air separation unit in the Eastern Cape is expected to
commence production by the second quarter of 2015, which
will mark a significant improvement in security of supply to
customers in this important region. Afrox also commissioned
a new R14 million hydrogen facility in Pelindaba, which will
enhance customer service levels. Plant reliability of 98%
(2013: 98%) has been achieved in this reporting period.

Broad-Based Black Economic
Empowerment

aspects of 2014 was the launch of our Individual Cylinder

Afrox’s current level 3 BBBEE contributor rating is expected
to be re-confirmed when next rated under the old codes in

Control project which will see Afrox’s total inventory of

quarter one of 2015. In common with most companies,

high-pressure cylinders barcoded (see page 36). This will

management is assessing the impact of the new codes, which

On the compressed gases front, one of the most important
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reduce Afrox’s dependence on imported hydrogen and

governance and remuneration

Rest of Africa (REA)

safety risks. We welcome the Competition Commission

performance review

Atmospheric Gases

but more importantly, to protect the public from significant

leadership review

in this sector.

Hard Goods volumes were down nearly 9%, reflecting lower
levels of activity in all key markets. To improve performance,
the Group is rationalising the current product range and its
local manufacturing facilities, and focusing on driving sales
of its high-yield products. Afrox celebrated the production
of the 100 000th self-contained self-rescuer emergency
oxygen supply unit for use by miners internationally.

threat, not only to ensure that our assets are not abused,

material matters and
strategic response

increase in demand in the medium-term. While cash margins

enable full ‘cradle-to-grave’ tracking of the cylinder
distribution cycle; we will know where each cylinder is
located, when it was last filled, who filled it, when it is due
for testing, what valve it has and which customer and Afrox
sites it has been through; in fact, its whole life history at a
touch of a button. This programme is an integral pillar of our
focus on enhancing the customer experience in dealing
with Afrox.

Finance Director’s review continued
come into effect in the second quarter of 2015. For the first

	The merchant ASU in Port Elizabeth will be in full

year of measurement, we have set a realistic level 7
contributor target and a level 5 target for the second year.

production in the second quarter of 2015 and will improve
our customer service to the Eastern Cape.
	The new filling plant in Durban, although being reassessed in scope and location (see page 29), will be fully
operational by the end of quarter one 2016.
	Gases distribution equipment (covering cylinders, bulk
tanks, customer installations and vehicles) have ensured
an improvement in the customer experience.

Customer service
Our focus on improving customer service (see page 36),
the ease of doing business with us and driving innovation
remained at the heart of our endeavours. Customer response
to the launch of our eShop channel, to take advantage of the
growing trend across Africa for online ordering and account
solutions, was extremely encouraging. This new channel is
all about doing convenient business with us in a simple and
transparent way and we expect eShop to grow in popularity
in the years ahead. Independently monitored customer
satisfaction levels, with Afrox and our National Customer
Service Centre (NCSC), stand at 95.25% (2013: 95.0%).

Dividends

Working capital

Prospects

Net working capital reduced materially from 2013 by
R136 million. This reduction was the outcome of nearly two
years of intense focus on improving controls over our supply
chain and contributed significantly to an improvement in
cash generated from operations as a percentage of EBITDA;
up from 95% in 2013 to 121% in 2014.

Afrox remains a profitable and robust business. Beyond our
ongoing focus on improving customer service and delivering
on customer needs, the main focus in 2015 will be on
completing the restructure (see page 34) so that the
Company can start 2016 on a positive footing. On this basis,
management expects the benefits of the restructure to be
progressively realised from the fourth quarter of 2015.
In 2016, we expect a step change in performance as the
full benefits of the completed restructuring are realised.

Borrowing facilities
During the second half of 2014, the renewal of the unused
portion of Afrox’s syndicated loan facilities was completed.
The opportunity was used to restructure our borrowing
programme and cancel the R500 million three-year term
facility and the R300 million revolving credit facility in place
under the syndicated loan programme. These facilities have
been replaced with a R500 million seven-year facility which
can be drawn down on for 24 months, commencing
1 January 2015. Management is confident, that this new
facility, together with the drawn facilities of R1 billion, gives
the Company sufficient loan finance to complete the major
capital programme, finance the restructuring and fund new
opportunities as they arise.

The Company retains its policy whereby headline earnings
cover the dividend twice. In compliance with this policy and
due to the level of restructuring costs incurred in the second
half of the year, no final dividend can be declared.

Thanks
I extend my sincere thanks to our customers for their
ongoing support in what are testing times, as we all come to
terms with the new reality of low-to-no growth. My thanks
also go to the members of the Board and my Afrox
colleagues for their unstinting commitment and support.
It is only through this support that our business is able to live
up to our new maxim: success is making the right choices in
difficult times.

Capital expenditure
The major programme of renewal announced in 2011/12 is
reaching completion. Highlights include:
	The merchant ASU in Pretoria forms the cornerstone of
capacity for the Gauteng and Northern Province region.
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	Defend market share in the core industrial gases segments
	Expand on our footprint in REA in current geographies over
the short to medium-term
	Innovation to exploit application-led growth opportunities
to retain fast-mover advantage in REA
	In the long-term, leverage of alternative energy sources
to LPG such as LNG

Build a performance culture
Talent retention strategy and managing shortage of critical skills
Improve employment equity statistics
Strengthen the REA teams and continue to focus on good governance

Embed safety culture and practices
Fit-for-purpose vehicles
Curbing illegal filling of LPG cylinders
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Embed advanced safety, health, environment and quality (SHEQ) performance

governance and remuneration

Price and cost recovery
Volume growth
Reduce fixed costs including those relating to selling,
general and administration costs
Resolve LPG supply constraints
Increase asset utilisation and productivity

Ensure sustainable growth while enhancing
competitiveness

performance review

Achieve a step change in profitability and
operating performance

Strategic objectives have remained mostly unchanged from
previous years. We have a stronger focus on improving
profitability and competitiveness as the business
environment is unlikely to improve in the short to mediumterm, meaning that production capacity is likely to remain
underutilised. The year saw significant focus on refining
tactical plans to ensure delivery of the strategic objectives.

leadership review

The business environment is tough and competitive.
As such, the focus is on those initiatives that will ensure
profitability and competitiveness within current product
ranges and leverage off opportunities in which we can
exploit our capabilities – the production, packaging,
distribution and application of gases to enhance our
customers’ processes. This includes re-investing in current
plant and equipment and appropriately investing in new
capacity. For example, this includes the ASU in Port Elizabeth
and the new cylinder filling facility in Durban. Innovation
and positive customer service levels are vital to maintain
and enhance our market position.

REA continues to show an increase in contribution to the
overall performance of Afrox and its growth is forecast
to solidify further.  Tactically we have opted for smaller,
multiple investments in priority geographies where we have
proven management experience.  This offers significant
advantages in diversifying the risk of investments (size and
location) and ensuring servicing our customers’ current
needs while building more flexibility to leverage future
demands. The expansion into REA has been carefully
managed to allow management to focus first on addressing
the South Africa challenges, including the lack of volume
growth, to unlock the necessary investment capital for
REA expansion.

material matters and
strategic response

The Afrox strategy remains to leverage off its industrial
gases position in South Africa and the Rest of Africa (REA)
region where we have a well-established, profitable
footprint. Industrial gases remain the core of the business.
However, competitive pressure is increasing and the market
growth in South Africa (Afrox’s largest geography) will
continue to be subdued or even negative. Our ability to
combine offers for LPG, Hard Goods and industrial gases will
continue to provide customers with a much valued
integrated offer.

our business

Strategic direction

Strategic direction continued
The need to restructure
During 2014 we launched our restructuring programme once
it became clear that economic activity post the platinum
mining and steel sector strikes was not going to recover to
expected levels.
This programme is a comprehensive review of all aspects of
our South African business and will include:
business portfolio;
product offering;
production capacity and distribution network;
leadership configuration;
channels to market; and
geographic footprint.
The objective of this programme is to ensure that post its
implementation we have a business which is correctly sized
and resourced for the current prevailing economic
conditions, focused on profitable market segments and
delivering an EBITDA margin and return on invested capital
appropriate for the type of business we operate. Our
mid-term target remains the achievement of 20% EBITDA
margin and a 15% return on invested capital.
The analysis and identification of improvement areas
commenced in the fourth quarter of 2014 and is well
advanced. This process is being supported by an
international consulting firm, AlixPartners, with specialist
restructuring and performance improvement expertise.
The analysis phase will be completed by the end of quarter
one, 2015.
Implementation of certain aspects of the identified
performance improvement initiatives commenced late
in 2014 and accordingly various restructuring costs totalling
R185 million were recognised in the 2014 annual financial
statements (refer page 29).
It is expected that the full programme of initiatives will be
implemented by the end of 2015 to reap the benefit in 2016.

34 I

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

Introduction

Achievements
	The air separation unit (ASU) project in the Eastern Cape

under-recovery of the additional cost for regulated and
non-regulated revenue streams, had a negative impact on
margins (see page 19).
	
The significant industrial action, especially in the mining
and metals industries, had a negative impact on volumes,
especially in the Hard Goods division.
	
Supply chain logistical obstacles in REA as a result of
political and civil unrest.
	
Increased competitor activity which put pressure on
pricing levels and commercial terms.
Illegal LPG filling operations.

Future focus areas
Focus areas for 2015
During 2015, we will critically evaluate our market position,
pricing strategy and asset utilisation and will challenge
our footprint, with a possible reduction or disposal of
unprofitable business lines and products. The execution of
our restructuring programme is the critical action required
for success (see pages 17 and 34).
Other items on the agenda include working with our CO2
supplier in the Western Cape to source additional product,
expansion to support the merchant business in the Western
Cape and delivering the Port Elizabeth ASU on time and
within budget.

Focus areas for 2016 onwards
We aim to achieve a 20% EBITDA margin in the medium-term
and solidify our number one market position in all markets
we serve.
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is in the execution phase while the filling plant in
KwaZulu-Natal is progressing (see page 32).
	There has been an overall improvement in plant reliability
(although certain areas still require focus) and the supply
of LPG cylinders has been increased by a further 5%.
	We are upgrading the capacity of our plant at the NCP
facility in Durban, which captures CO2 released from a
natural fermentation process. This will include increasing
strategic storage.
	The focus on inventory management has resulted in an
improvement in working capital (see page 32).
	Overall, excluding restructuring costs, we were able to
limit our cost increases to 1.6% despite a cost inflation
basket increase of over 7%.

	
Continued negative volume growth and related impact on
margins and returns.
Shortage of CO2 and LPG.
	
Although imports of LPG increased security of supply, the

performance review

The product range for Hard Goods was substantially
rationalised to focus on customer needs and higher margin
products. Two of our welding factories were combined and
the redundant property was sold.

Key challenges

leadership review

In 2014, we achieved a more balanced product portfolio,
improved supply chain, enhanced cost recovery through
quality and pricing, and identified possible growth market
sectors for the cylinder business and value-adding products.
We set clear medium-term targets as to what EBITDA margin
had to be realised, after benchmarking ourselves against
other Linde Group companies.

R

material matters and
strategic response

We have not pinned our expectations for improved
profitability on the back of significant volume recoveries, but
have rather adopted a strong cost focus. This is especially
the case in distribution and procurement, where we have
commenced a critical evaluation of asset utilisation,
standardisation and de-bottlenecking of the supply chain.
A strategic review of our footprint and associated costs has
been initiated. We also commenced with a restructure and
cost tightening process to address our level of operating
costs. The majority of the restructuring is expected to be
completed by the end of 2015 (see page 34).

our business

Achieve a step change in profitability and
operating performance

Achieve a step change in profitability and operating performance continued

Performance
Key performance area

Key performance indicator

2014

2013

Step change in profitability

EBITDA margin (%)
RONA (%)
Net operating earnings to revenue (%)
Operating expense ratio
Working capital ratio
Fixed costs/revenue (%)

14.0
5.4
3.4
85.9
1.5
36.4

15.1
13.7
8.8
84.9
1.8
34.6

Optimise pricing and grow
volumes in line with growth in
economy of the relevant sectors

Atmospheric Gases (% average
volume growth)
LPG (% average volume growth)
Hard Goods (% average volume growth)

(15)
(6)
(9)

(15)
(4)
(3)

0.31
0.33

3
6

Reliability of ASU (%)
Reliability of CO2 plants (%)
Capex/revenue (%)

98
97
9

98
96
9

Improve service levels

DIFOT – Hard Goods (%)
DIFOT – Industrial Gases (%)

76
94

78
92

Customer satisfaction

Billing accuracy
Query resolution
Overall rating of performance

95%

95%

Increase plant reliability
and productivity

Run-out efficiency: Bulk – Industrial Gases
Run-out efficiency: LPG

Gross profit after distribution expenses (GPADE) by major
segment (Rm) and GPADE margin by major segment (%)
is included in our organisational overview. Refer
pages 8 and 9.
We continue to invest in projects that will enhance security
of supply and improve service levels and plant efficiency:
	
Our major 150-tonne-a-day ASU investment in the
Eastern Cape is on track to support our market in the
region and will ensure security of supply for existing
customers as we go into 2015.
	
Work will commence on our new Durban filling plant
during 2015. Due to diminished volumes, this will not
initially include a Dissolved Acetylene (DA) plant. Instead
DA will be trunked from our Germiston operations centre.
We are also reconsidering the location scale and scope of
our new Durban filling plant (see page 29).
	
Afrox also invested in a state-of-the-art hydrogen and
oxygen plant for the South African Nuclear Energy
Corporation, reducing dependence on imported hydrogen
and enhancing customer experience and service levels.
	
The Tag ‘n Trace Individual Cylinder Control (ICC)
programme was launched in May 2014. This is a project
to barcode all high-pressure cylinders to enhance the
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audit trail for each cylinder from cradle-to-grave. This
project is being rolled out in three phases, with phase 1
completed in September 2014. Phases 2 and 3 are
in progress. The key benefits of this programme are:
– An improved understanding of where our cylinders are
will increase utilisation and support efforts to reduce
capital spending and increase profitability;
– All transactions are electronic and can be reconciled by
individual cylinder; and
– Customer cylinder holding accuracy will significantly
improve the customer experience.

Step change in profitability
Market activity remained depressed and cost pressures
continued, as rising labour, fuel and electricity prices,
coupled to a weak Rand, had a negative impact on margins
and production. A series of crippling strikes across multiple
sectors of the economy resulted in production in key
industries, such as mining and manufacturing, being
negatively impacted. This resulted in our key performance
indicators outlined in the table above declining and was
a key motivator for the business restructure programme
(see pages 28 and 34).

Bulk run-out rate improvement
The improvement in the Bulk run-out rate was obtained
through focus on communication and collaboration among
the sales, distribution and scheduling and planning teams.
Improved root cause analysis assisted in identifying areas
for improvement. Overall stock and resource availability
assisted as well and during periods of localised shortages
we improved the utilisation of alternative sources.

CSM improvement

Plant reliability

Afrox continually focuses on improving the customer
experience. The overall result achieved in 2014 was 95%
against a target of 95%. Our customer value tracking,
a monthly survey, measures if customers would:
	
recommend Afrox to others;
	
use Afrox first should they require a new product; and
stay with Afrox if another supplier offered them a similar
competitive product.

ASU plant reliability for 2014 is 97.4%, 0.6% below the
previous year mainly due the Witbank plant extended
electrical outage in October. The CO2 plant reliability for 2014
was 96.7%, which represents an almost 1% improvement
from the previous year. We expect the CO2 units to attain 98%
in 2015 with the ASU plants likely to maintain 97% reliability
mainly due to a maintenance backlog. Note: plant reliability
refers only to plant performance and not the supply chain
and, therefore, the statistics might not have a direct
correlation to customer experience.
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Improve service levels

governance and remuneration

Improved customer service levels were a result of focused
attention to customer master data affecting customer
delivery windows and customer-to-source linkages. The
organisation (including sales, site management, distribution,
inventory staff, and NCSC commercial) underwent focused
training on all areas for improvement. Distribution gave
NCSC commercial regular feedback on required customer
master changes to improve route planning. The team
focused on root cause analysis on a daily basis to improve
service levels at plant and failure mode levels.

performance review

The majority of our plants are operating below their optimal
levels due to low customer demand. Plant reliability of
97.4% (2013: 98%) has been achieved in this reporting
period. During the year we utilised our Wadeville ASU as a
swing plant, when demand warrants its use or where either
the ASUs at Witbank (Highveld plants) or the Pretoria ASU
needed to be taken out of production for maintenance. This
has resulted in an increase in distribution cost as we now
trunk an increased volume of product. Tonnage power costs
were under pressure due to an average power tariff increase
of 7.8%, despite this, energy costs increased by only 3.9%
year on year. Plant reliability remains a key focus area and
there have been some challenges in this regard during
2014. We have had significant support from The Linde Group
to address these issues and are confident that the root
causes are being properly addressed. Despite these issues,
overall reliability remains at world class levels.

Continuous customer feedback is obtained until the correct
level of satisfaction rating is achieved. Repair loops have been
implemented since 2014 and form part of our approach to root
cause analysis on our queries and customer impacts.

leadership review

Increase plant reliability and productivity

We have numerous customer satisfaction activities in place,
linked to The Linde Group customer experience framework,
to ensure we manage service failures. This framework has
been in place since 2012 and monitors activities that impact
the customer, deliveries, product availability, effective query
resolution and sustainability of the implementation of
recommended improvements linked to best operating
practices.

material matters and
strategic response

Output reduction and strikes at key large customers and the
final termination of the Evraz Highveld Steel and Vanadium
contract reduced demand for Atmospheric Gases. As a result,
gaseous pipeline sales declined substantially and those of
compressed gases remained flat. Bulk liquid gases volumes,
however, increased nearly 8% due to new contract awards.
Merchant CO2 volumes were broadly in line with 2013.
Medical atmospheric gases volumes provided to the state
and private sector remained flat. LPG volumes were down
6.0% compared to 2013. Afrox continued to import LPG,
subsidising an element of the additional import costs as
distribution and price recovery remain a challenge. Hard
Goods volumes were down 5.8%, reflecting the low level of
activity. In our key markets, Afrox is rationalising its product
range, manufacturing facilities, and driving sales of
high-yield products.

We also measure customer call activity, where an agent is
evaluated on product knowledge, attitude/professionalism
and overall experience.

our business

Optimise pricing and grow volumes in line with
growth in economy of the relevant sectors

Ensure sustainable growth while enhancing
competitiveness
Introduction
Afrox continues to exploit application-led growth
opportunities. This includes improving the understanding of
African markets and integration of Hard Goods exports with
Linde global offerings.
We focused on maintaining our market share, the associated
footprint, and increasing our levels of reliability through
service and improvement of logistics. This was done to
ensure we retain our existing customer base and prevent
any unnecessary erosion.

Achievements
	
The Columbus stainless steel contract was extended for
a further five years in February 2014 – thereby securing
a total of seven years demand for the Highveld/
Witbank ASU.
	
Afrox extended its contract to supply Sasol, Afrox’s largest
local special gases customer, with compressed gases until
31 December 2020 and extended the Hard Goods contract
until January 2019.
	
Afrox obtained a 10-year contract extension with Scaw
Metals Group to supply 50 tonnes-per-day of oxygen to its
Wadeville works. The new agreement, encompassing
previous updates of old agreements, will be worth more
than R400 million in the longer term.
	
A clean energy task team, in conjunction with Linde,
was established to evaluate growth opportunities.
The investigation into different market opportunities
and market assessments is underway.
	
The roll-out of SmoothFloTM to the Nordic region, United
Kingdom, Australia and Canada has gone according to
schedule and customer response has been positive.
	
The release of new Hard Goods products, such as a new
medical integrated valve and a new product range for
retail distributors, is on track for 2015.
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Key challenges
	
A key challenge remains the lack of growth in the South
African industrial and mining sectors of the economy.
In response, we are embarking on a restructuring
programme (see pages 28 and 34) and will continue to
seek opportunities and defend market share while
addressing the effects of a high fixed cost business with
a large distribution footprint.
	
As part of our restructuring programme we are reviewing
our Hard Goods in-house capacity versus outsourcing. In
the first phase we have identified that one factory should
either be sold to a third party or closed. This choice will be
finalised by the end of April 2015.
	
Afrox is investigating different options to comply with the
Liquid Fuel Charter that requires 25% black ownership.

Future focus areas
Focus areas for 2015
We will continue to defend our market share by improving
services and our related product offerings. We will also
actively pursue profitable opportunities in the REA region.
The main focus in 2015 will be on the execution of our
restructuring programme (see pages 28 to 34) and benefits
should start to be progressively realised from the fourth
quarter of 2015.

Focus areas for 2016 onwards
In 2016, we expect a step change in performance as the full
benefits of the completed restructure are realised. We will
continue to focus on profitable investments in REA. Our
medium-term goal is a target of 40% of our turnover to be
derived from REA.
We will exploit the Rand weakness by boosting Hard Goods
exports while gaining market share from importers by
driving sales of locally manufactured high-yield products.

our business

Performance
Key performance area

2014

Revenue growth by segment (%)
Atmospheric Gases
LPG
Healthcare
Region Emerging Africa
Plant capacity utilisation rates (%)
Air separation units/CO2 plants reliability (%)
Inventory days
Fixed costs/revenue (%)

In our 2013 integrated report we indicated under the
heading Our footprint that our long-term success depended
on our ability to adjust and respond to current and future
market dynamics. We also indicated that times of market
contraction were especially challenging due to the level of
fixed costs our geographic footprint brought to the business.
This proved particularly relevant in 2014 when volume

81

88

36.4

34.6

reductions could not be matched by a corresponding
reduction in our fixed costs. This resulted in our EBITDA
margin (see page 36) declining by 1%. This has been a
driving force behind our intention to restructure our
business. The sustainable benefits we will derive from this
programme include a business fit-for-purpose, more agile,
focused on our customer needs and generating returns that
will meet stakeholder expectations and ensure our ability to
re-invest on an ongoing basis.

Sustainable growth
Afrox took the first steps to launch an integrated business
planning process in 2013. This process helped to clearly
define both the Company’s ability to supply and our customers
expected demand in the medium to long-term. The result was
planning to resolve the gap between supply and demand in
the most profitable way. The integrated business process has
been successfully implemented in parts of The Linde Group
and has led to substantial increases in customer service and
the early identification of market opportunities, and ensures
future demand can be profitably met by creating additional
capacity where warranted. The full implementation of this
process in 2015 is a key strategic objective for Afrox.

governance and remuneration

Innovation remains vital to our competitiveness. Hard Goods
continues to be a key area for research and development as
evidenced through the successful SmoothFloTM roll-out, the
new medical integrated valve and the new product range for
retail distributors due to be released in 2015.

66
98/96

performance review

Volumes remained generally flat and containing costs
continued to be a key focus area, which resulted in our costs
excluding restructuring costs only increasing by 1.6% year
on year despite an inflation basket of over 7%. We are
evaluating opportunities to partner with government
agencies, refineries and other strategic partners to build
strategic storage capabilities for LPG. This will facilitate
importation and benefit from periods of local product
surplus. Progress on these options is also linked to our
BBBEE ownership strategy.

58
98/97

(11)
10
6
9

leadership review

Enhancing competitiveness

2
0
(6)
3

2013
material matters and
strategic response

Sustainable growth

Key performance indicator

For a segment review, refer to page 80.
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Embed advanced safety, health, environment
and quality performance
Introduction

Future focus areas

Afrox is committed to ensuring that advanced safety, health,
environment and quality (SHEQ) performance is an ongoing
strategic priority. We are committed to excellence in
managing all activities to ensure the health and safety of
our employees, contractors, suppliers, customers, local
communities and the environment.

Focus areas for 2015

In 2013, Afrox introduced SHEQ initiatives and a welldefined strategy and associated plans up to 2016. These
included training and regular reporting of progress against
the strategy. Each employee is personally responsible for
SHEQ on our sites. Managers are expected to demonstrate
visible leadership in implementing the SHEQ agenda.

Achievements
	
Our dedication to improving safety has resulted in a step
change in our safety record over the last three years, with
the majority of our safety indicators showing a substantial
improvement over this period.
	
An increased focus on environmental performance has
resulted in most environmental KPIs reflecting a
sustainable improvement.
	
Our direct CO2 emissions (tCO2e) are at 37 345 tonnes
(2013: 43 659 tonnes), below the 100 000 tonnes
threshold for carbon tax.
	
During 2014 there was a decrease in purchased
electricity, carbon emissions, water and total waste.

Key challenges
	
Further improve our SHEQ performance to ensure there is
no detraction from safety as we drive the cost reduction
measures being taken in Afrox.
	
The number of avoidable car accidents remains a cause
for concern. As such, we have refocused our defensive
driving training and regularly re-assess our performance
in this area.
	
We remain committed to improving site security
assessments and effective security controls.
	
Illegal LPG filling remains a challenge and we continue
to try to curb this through our legal programme.
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Further progress on our SHEQ Maturity Road Map and
continued improvement on our safety performance
through reduction of incidents across all lagging
measures.
	
Continue the SHEQ Driven-by-the-line programme to
further embed required SHEQ behaviours at all levels
of management.
	
Focus on reductions in energy, water, waste, carbon
footprint, emissions and effluent against baselines.

Focus areas for 2016 onwards
Our focus will be to the further entrenchment and
improvement in:
	
a culture of visible leadership for safety and ownership
of safety by advancing the deployment of the SHEQ
Driven-by-the-line and ActSafe programmes;
	
our focus on operational, transport and process safety
risk management processes;
	
quality improvement in our health and occupational
hygiene standards and environmental performance; and
	
our SHEQ performance, with a focus on passenger car
safety and manual handling activity.

our business

Performance
2014

2013

2014 target

LTI (number)
LTI (rate)
TAAR (number)
TAAR rate (severity 1 and 2)
PCAAR (number)
PCAAR rate (severity 1 and 2)
Afrox and third party fatalities

7
0.72
0
0.00
0
0.00
2

16
1.65
2
0.07
2
0.08
3

12
1.24
2
0.07
1
0.04
0

Environmental

Electricity consumption (MWh)
Water consumption (m3)
Total carbon emissions (t CO2e)2
Waste (tonnes)

401 187
840 818
391 890
3 723

460 558
979 665
485 056
4 078

Quality

Adherence to quality standards in
particular for regulated products
Sites certified to ISO 9001
Sites certified to ISO 14001
Sites certified to ISO 18001

1
2
3

100%
100%3
100%3
100%3

100%
100%3
100%3
100%3

4% reduction1
5% reduction1
4% reduction1
3% reduction1
100%
100%3
100%3
100%3

Reduction against the 2013 baseline
Includes direct as well as indirect emissions
% of sites that require ISO accreditation

Safety and health
Risk assessment and contractor safety were areas of focus
during 2014 through our SHEQ Driven-by-the-Line
programme, and our SHEQ support reviews and internal
audit programme.

Truck avoidable accident rate (TAAR) (severity one and two)
decreased from 0.07 in 2013 to 0.00 in 2014. This is the first
year on record without a severity one or two transport
incident. This commendable result is attributable to a
number of key programmes including:
	
anti-rollover training;
	
ActSafe for drivers programme;
	
contractor management focus;
	
operational excellence such as drive cam lane assist
technologies;
	
mirror docking stations; and
	
focused communication campaigns.
African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014
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We have persisted in building on our behavioural safety
programmes and leadership in SHEQ with good progress
being made in these areas. Monitoring on-site emergency
plans was a focused leading indicator during 2014 and
progress has been made in conducting site emergency drills
with local emergency services. We are pleased to note that
no occupational illnesses or diseases have been reported
in 2014.

The number of lost time incidents (LTIs) decreased from
16 in 2013 to seven in 2014 indicating the progress that has
been made in reducing the number of LTIs. This includes
a reduction in the number of manual handling-related
incidents. All SHEQ plans focused on reducing the number of
injuries including improved, consistent management effort,
incident management and accountability arising from the
SHEQ Driven-by-the-line programme.

governance and remuneration

All Afrox sites have well-developed and integrated SHEQ
management systems based on the principles of ISO 9001,
ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001, as well as relevant legislative
requirements, Linde and Afrox prerequisites and other
applicable requirements.

We are continuing to regain control on the causes of major
incidents primarily due to more robust investigation
processes and better implementation of permanent fixes.
For example, a major incident in which an employee lost an
eye has prompted a detailed review of chemical handling
within the business.

performance review

Business SHEQ plans have progressed well and resulted in
most SHEQ targets being attained. Afrox has progressed the
high performance organisation SHEQ Road Map by 32%
towards our 2016 advanced level target. SHEQ plans for
2015 have been designed with a focus on behavioural
safety, process safety, safe driving, quality, reducing cylinder
handling injuries, exposure to hazardous substances and
improving our environmental performance.

leadership review

Key performance indicator

Safety and health

material matters and
strategic response

Key performance area

Embed advanced safety, health, environment and quality performance continued

Severity three and four incidents are also showing a marked
decrease from previous years.

footprint/(direct CO2 emissions and indirect CO2 emissions)
overall decreased by 19%.

PCAAR rate (severity one and two) decreased from 0.08 in
2013 to 0.00 in 2014 and this is also the first year on record
without a severity one or two passenger car incident.
Improved defensive driving training, focused communication
campaigns and more consistent consequence management
has contributed to this positive result. However, severity
three and four incidents remain higher than desirable and
require more focused effort in 2015.

Electricity consumption (MWh) has decreased by 13% in
2014 against a reduction target of 4%. This was mainly due
to a decrease in demand, the shutdown of an electrodes site
and energy savings initiatives that were implemented
at sites.

Zero fatalities and incidents remains the goal for Afrox,
consistent with the Linde policy, which we believe is
absolutely achievable. Our SHEQ plans for the coming year
will build on the success to date and further accelerate
towards this non-negotiable goal.

Water consumption (m3) also showed a decrease of 12%
against a reduction target of 5%. The main contributing
factors were decrease in demand and water savings
initiatives implemented at sites.
Total waste (tonnes) generation decreased in 2014 by 9%
against a target of 3%. This performance was mainly due to
a decrease in production at some sites, re-use, re-cycling
and upcycling initiatives that were introduced at sites.

Environment
Environmental awareness campaigns are ongoing with KPIs
having been developed for major sites, including electricity,
water and waste reduction targets for 2015. We have
retained and aligned our ISO 9001 accreditations to meet
our business needs. We also retained our ISO 14001
accreditation at our strategic sites and achieved compliance
with new legislation (e.g. air emissions licences and
hazardous waste registrations).
Advances were made regarding a programme of focused
environmental auditing. Reviews have taken place at
high-risk sites, and the SHEQ internal audit programme is
being reviewed in preparation for more focused audits
during 2015.
Afrox monitors direct and indirect CO2 emissions and the
data is used by The Linde Group to compile submissions to
the global Carbon Disclosure Project. Our main energy usage
is electricity. We have set a 2015 reduction target and will
continue to monitor our carbon footprint annually.
A major contributor to the Afrox carbon footprint is indirect
emissions through purchased electricity. As expected there
is a correlation between the Afrox organisational carbon
footprint and electricity usage. The purchased electricity
consumption decreased by 13% in 2014, and we see nearly
a 10% decrease in indirect CO2 emissions. The Afrox carbon
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Quality
Our quality agenda remains a focus on the now fully
functional Afrox Quality Council and on the detailed reviews
of quality incidents and improvement initiatives. We have
retained our various IS0 9001 accreditations and customer
authorisations within the business and aligned our ISO 9001
accreditations to meet our business needs.
An area of focus was to support and improve good
manufacturing practice compliance. A number of initiatives
are underway to improve compliance with these
requirements, including validation plans, focused medical
audits and covered storage.
All regions and integrated business lines have achieved
ISO 9001 accreditation. There were few critical nonconformances reported, thus showing an improvement in
our Quality Management Systems (QMS). In addition, our
gases operations centre had a successful SANAS audit.
We have also retained ISO 14001 accreditation at our
strategic REA sites.
For more detailed SHEQ information, please refer to the
online supplement (available at http://www.afrox.co.za/
en/investor_relations/Index.html.)

Introduction

We continue to look for improvement opportunities in
organisational efficiencies and employee costs, which
will result in rightsizing of the organisation.

Achievements

Focus areas for 2015
As part of the HR strategy to support the business growth
agenda, ongoing development of our leadership team
through global training programmes and local initiatives is
a priority. We will persist in aligning rewards to results and
underpin our objectives of growing profits and market share.
Meeting our employment equity targets remains a focus.
The new BBBEE codes are posing fresh challenges and an
integrated transformation strategy has been presented to
the SET Committee for approval in an effort to ensure a
pro-active response to the increased requirements.
Building relationships and ensuring transparency with
employees and unions is ongoing.

governance and remuneration

Focus areas for 2016 onwards
In the medium to long-term, the focus will shift to the
restructuring of the organisation (refer to page 34), obtaining
the best skills in the industry and retaining them. This will
require ongoing leadership, technology and best practice
transfer. The focus will be on sustainable long-term growth.
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A number of HR processes have been reviewed to
decrease costs and improve efficiencies, for example
through introducing electronic payslips.
	
The Afrox Medical Aid Society was amalgamated with
Discovery Health in May 2014 and the Funeral scheme
benefits were increased. This is part of an ongoing drive
to improve employee benefits.
	
A talent retention strategy is in place and the succession
planning process was re-launched with both gaps and
potential candidates having been identified.
	
There are options to fast-track identified high performers
to ensure readiness over the next two years for
critical senior level roles. This will assist in meeting
employment equity targets not yet achieved at senior
management level.

Future focus
performance review

For more detail on our employee related initiatives,
please see our online supplement (available at
http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/
Index.html.)

	
The shortage of key skills remains a challenge. Retention
of skilled resources at the current levels remains a key
consideration during the restructuring. See page 34 for
further detail on restructuring.
	
The restructuring programme will result in employees
assuming different or more complex positions and
consequently requiring re-skilling. This will be addressed
through personal development plans.
	
During the period of flux caused by our restructuring
programme, it is important to ensure a high level of
employee engagement, and management training on
procedures and policies continues as a key priority.
	
Meeting employment equity targets continues to be
a challenge.
	
Increasing labour demands resulted in two separate
incidents of industrial action which negatively impacted
productivity as well as our growth and cost base. Ongoing
focus on relations with unions and bargaining councils is
a critical priority.

leadership review

We continue to benchmark our performance against
The Linde Group and set clear objectives and targets.
These goals are translated into specific Company-level
performance objectives, which are complemented by
supporting personal objectives embedded in each
manager’s performance contract. This direct performance
management approach is integrated into our training and
development programme, and our employment equity and
succession programmes.

Key challenges

material matters and
strategic response

We understand that building a performance culture is vital
to our success. Therefore, we concentrate on retention of
critical skills, leadership development, development of skills
aligned to our business strategy and requirements,
education, people engagement and user-friendly human
resource (HR) process automation to assist in setting,
monitoring and evaluating performance.

our business

Build a performance culture

Build a performance culture continued

Performance
Key performance area

Key performance indicator

People development and
leadership capability

Leadership developments
(number of people)
Learners, apprentices, bursars and graduates
(number of people)

Diversity and transformation

BBBEE level
Employment equity

Staff retention

Staff turnover total

See table on
page 45

People development and leadership capability
People development remains a focus to ensure a talent
pipeline and effective succession planning. Good progress
was made with bursary and graduate development. Artisan
development programmes are also in place to address
skills shortage in the business. The total investment in
training including bursaries for 2014 was R12.8 million
(2013: R12.1 million).
First and second line management programmes, which
formed the biggest part of leadership development, were
initiated in 2012 with the bulk of the line managers being
trained in 2013. In 2014 the balance of line managers
eligible for the training were trained.
Learnerships, apprenticeships, graduates and bursar
numbers are based on business needs and some individuals
completed the programme in 2013 with no new intake in
2014. Good progress has been made with key senior
positions, critical roles and succession planning but this
will be re-evaluated after the restructure.

Performance management
Performance management is a key process for building
a high-performance culture; a culture where people take
responsibility for continuously improving the way they
work and the skills they use to make a contribution to the
organisation. Performance management is a formal process
with discrete stages focusing on:
	
performance target setting and review, competencies
required; and
a personal development plan.
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2014

2013

387

651

52

80

3
See table on
page 45

3

There is also an informal process that involves regular
communication between managers and employees to clarify
expectations and provide performance feedback.
The performance management process is done for all
non-bargaining council employees, which also includes
a calibration process to ensure fairness, consistency and
identification of high potential employees to fast-track their
development and retain their skills.
For our remuneration philosophy, refer to page 61.

Staff retention and vacancies
A key measure we manage and track is our staff turnover
and vacancies. A level of turnover is healthy in any
organisation to create opportunities for personal growth.
Our staff turnover was 14.8% (2013: 17.4%) and is within
industry norms.
Voluntary exits relate to employees who have left our
employ during the year and involuntary exits include
retrenchments, retirements and disciplinary dismissals.
The number of employees who voluntarily left Afrox in 2013
was 230 against 204 in 2014. Our voluntary turnover
rate in 2014 was 7.1% compared to 7.4% in 2013. New
engagement refers to newly appointed staff from outside
the organisation and was 338 in 2014, compared to
185 in 2013.

our business

Analysis of leavers

2014

2013

FTE

78

75

Number of employees that left the reporting unit due to voluntary
resignation – male

FTE

126

155

Number of employees that left the reporting unit due to other reasons:
– Male
– Female

FTE
FTE

157
63

244
71

Total number of voluntary and non-voluntary leavers

FTE

424

545

Number

9.10

8.05

Average length of service in years

material matters and
strategic response

Number of employees that left the reporting unit due to voluntary
resignation – female

Diversity and transformation

Our Employment Equity Plan (EEP) and policy aims to ensure
we continue to improve our performance. The policy

2014
%

2013
%

2012
%

0

33.75

30.1

Senior management (Target 65%)

33

48.3

49.8

Professionally qualified middle management (Target 70%)

51

61

59.7

Employment equity
Top management (Target 40%)

64

55

75

84.6

86.7

99.3

99.3

99.4

Unskilled and defined decision making

Analysis of Afrox employment equity
Analysis(Refer
of Afrox
employment
equity percentages (Refer page 46)
percentages
page
46)
2014
10%

2013
10%

Female

20%

60.3%

Male

20%

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

I 45

summarised consolidated financial
statements and other information

14.5%

24.6%
51.9%

Male

Female

governance and remuneration

Skilled middle and junior management (Target 80%)
Semi-skilled junior management

performance review

prohibits discrimination based on race, gender, disability,
sexual orientation and/or religion. Our EEP for 2014 to 2017
has been developed with a focus on improving areas where
targets were not met and in line with new legislative
changes. All stakeholders have committed to achieving
the strategy and monthly monitoring and evaluation of
achievements against these targets is conducted. However,
in 2104 we have not been successful in improving our
performance in this regard and a renewed effort will have to
be made in 2015 post the restructuring to ensure we meet
our targets.

leadership review

Our transformation strategy encompasses the view that
transformation and our overall business strategy go
hand-in-hand. We continue to face and address challenges
to meet our employment equity objectives. Our strategy of
promoting from within, and fast-tracking external candidates
from designated groups, has enabled us to make some
progress at the junior and middle management levels, but
not at the more senior levels of the organisation.

Build a performance culture continued

BBBEE profile

2014

Number of men
Senior management
Professional skilled
Skilled
Semi-skilled
Unskilled
Total

2013

2014
Number of women

2013

Black

White

Black

White

Black

White

Black

White

14
133
304
361
705

33
145
151
27
4

19
130
293
398
705

46
138
160
33
4

Senior management
Professional skilled
Skilled
Semi-skilled
Unskilled

5
50
154
123
36

5
50
115
59
1

6
49
147
124
46

7
53
120
60
1

1 877

369

1 545

383

Total

368

230

372

241

Note: This excludes management included under the management control element on the scorecard

Overall black representation in Afrox is 76.5% (2013:
74.8%) and includes 24.6% (2013: 14.5%) females.
In the 2014 apprenticeship and learnership intakes,
preference was given to applicants from designated groups,
and bursaries granted for management and leadership
development were accelerated for designated equity
groups. Continued linking of our skills development with
our employment equity strategy remains an area of focus.
As a BBBEE level three contributor, we are proud of our
achievements in promoting the interests of previously
disadvantaged individuals within the supplier value chain.
As a value-adding enterprise, we offer 110% preferential
procurement recognition.
The Company’s controlling shareholder with full
management control is The Linde Group with a 50.47%
stake. As a listed public company, Afrox has no control over
who purchases our shares on the open market. We therefore
have a limited ability to change our ownership score under
the codes other than by effecting an empowerment
transaction. We are developing a strategy in this regard.

Supplier development
The human resources function is responsible for ensuring
we progress our BBBEE agenda. We have adopted The Linde
Group’s Code of Conduct for Suppliers, and communicated
this code to all vendors in July 2013.
The code defines the basic requirements to meet Afrox’s
standards relating to health and safety, human rights and
labour laws and standards, legal compliance and integrity,
environmental protection and supply chain. To date 40% of
those suppliers constituting the top 80% of our procurement
spend, have acknowledged and agreed to the Code of
Conduct for Suppliers.
In light of the significant changes in the new BBBEE Code of
Good Practice, specifically related to supplier development,
Afrox is working on a more integrated approach to black
owned (BO) and black women owned (BWO) spend and
development. We acknowledge that we face challenges due
to our spend and product profile in terms of local availability,
capacity and technical specifications of BWO and
BO suppliers.
Currently, BBBEE suppliers are not treated differently
regarding sourcing of business requirements but we do
actively seek the inclusion of BO and BWO suppliers where
commercially viable. As a result of this more active approach
we increased our preferential procurement spend from
R162 million in 2013 to approximately R190 million in 2014.
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We ensure the
right culture
and leadership,
making corporate
responsibility core
to our values and
the way we do
business.

summarised consolidated financial
statements and other information

I 47

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

Corporate social responsibility
Corporate responsibility is our contribution to sustainable
development. It involves the systematic integration of social
and environmental aspects into our business strategy.
Corporate responsibility concerns every step of our value
chain. We contribute to the wellbeing of our Company,
society and the environment. We ensure the right culture
and leadership, making corporate responsibility core to our
values and the way we do business.

transformation scorecard. Strong economically social
communities enhance our success. Therefore, our CSI
strategy is aligned to our long-term business objectives.
Social investments are governed by policy and signed off
by the SET Committee. Where applicable, we align our
annual strategies with The Linde Group and implement
changes in BBBEE and related legislation when necessary.
The focus of our social investment is education, job creation
and income-generating programmes aimed at creating
self-sustainability. As part of our commitment, we donate
at least 1% of our previous year’s net profit after taxable
earnings to social investment initiatives.

We have a sustainability governance structure with the
Managing Director having overall responsibility for the
Company’s sustainability performance. The Board is kept
informed of the Company’s sustainability compliance and
high level risks through reports and presentations to the
Social, Ethics and Transformation (SET) Committee three
times per year.

As in previous years, no political donations were made
in 2014.

Corporate social investment (CSI) is inherent in our business
philosophy and forms part of our socio-economic
development initiatives, stipulated under the BBBEE

For more information on our projects, please see our
Corporate Social Responsibility Review (available at http://
www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/Index.html.)

Community
investment

Employee
volunteering

10%

Emergency aid

Commitment

Healthcare

Priorities

Arts and culture

20%
Science and
education

48 I

Environment
and safety

African Oxygen Limited Integrated Report I 2014

Social issues

our business

Value added statement
This statement is a measure of the wealth created by the Group through its various business activities. The statement and
charts show the total wealth created, how it was distributed and retained.
2014
R’m

2013
R’m

%

5 834
(4 042)

5 825
(3 744)

Value added
Finance income
Income from investments

1 792
75
1

2 081
45
1

%

2 127

100

1 204

65

1 191

56

7
236

–
12

10
246

–
12

Finance costs
Non-controlling interest
Ordinary dividends

87
13
136

5
1
7

92
15
139

4
1
7

Taxation
Retained in Group activities

93
328

5
18

144
536

7
25

381
(53)

20
(3)

366
170

17
8

2 127

100

Depreciation and amortisation
Retained income

1 868
Value added ratios
Number of employees
Permanent
Short-term and contractors
Revenue per average permanent employee (R’000)
Value added per average permanent employee (R’000)

100

2 872

2 959

2 856
16

2 930
29

2 017
646

1 886
688

governance and remuneration

Wealth distributed and retained (%)
70

Retained

60

Taxation

50

Providers
of capital
Employees

40

20
10

2013

2014
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30

0

performance review

100

leadership review

1 868
Wealth distributed and retained
Employees
Salaries and benefits
Community
Donations
Providers of capital

material matters and
strategic response

Wealth created
Revenue
Cost of goods and services

Leadership and governance
Board of directors
Non-executive directors

Mike Huggon
(59) Chairman

Dr Khotso Mokhele
(59) Lead non-executive director

Richard Gearing
(53) Non-executive director

Chris Wells
(65) Non-executive director

Nomfundo Qangule
(46) Non-executive director

Lean (GJ) Strauss
(56) Non-executive director
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Sipho Maseko
(46) Non-executive director

leadership review

David Lawrence
(63) Non-executive director

Matthias von Plotho
(45) Non-executive director

2

Nick Thomson
(55) Financial Director2

Resigned effective 12 January 2015
Resigned 26 February 2015 effective 31 May 2015

For full biography view online (at http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/Index.html.)
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1

governance and remuneration

Brett Kimber
(53) Managing Director1

performance review

Executive directors

Leadership and governance continued

Executive management

1
2

Brett Kimber
Managing Director1

Nick Thomson
Financial Director2

Dave Shaw
Head of MPG (Identified as a
prescribed officer in the
Remuneration report)

Ben Mabelane
Head of Tonnage

Sylvia Schollenberger
Head of Strategy and Risk

Donal Mackinnon
Head of High Performance
Organisation

Cheryl Singh
Company Secretary and
General Counsel

Johan Cilliers
Head of Communication

Resigned effective 12 January 2015
Resigned 26 February 2015 effective 31 May 2015
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Nazmi Adams
Head of Hard Goods and
Exports (Identified as a
prescribed officer in the
Remuneration report)

Ashley Soupen
Head of Human Resources

Stephen Moran
Head of SHEQ

James Poulter
Head of Information Services

Willie Coetzee
Head of Region Emerging
Africa (Identified as a
prescribed officer in the
Remuneration report)

performance review

Mark Radford
Head of LPG (Identified as a
prescribed officer in the
Remuneration report)

leadership review

Xolile Sizani
Head of Healthcare

governance and remuneration
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For full biography view online (at http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/Index.html.)

Leadership and governance continued

Our approach to governance
The Board recognises the principles of good corporate
governance, and open, comprehensive business practices,
as being essential to protect the interests of all stakeholders.
These principles are being integrated into our organisational
culture to ensure that they become a way of life within
Afrox. Appropriate governance principles are incorporated in
all structures, systems and policies, and these are constantly
re-assessed and reviewed to ensure continuous compliance
and to safeguard the application of best practice.

The King III Report on Governance for South Africa (King III)
has focused our efforts to ensure sound leadership, as well
as sustainability and good corporate citizenship is included
in our business structures, policies and practices.

Statement of compliance
The JSE Listings Requirements require listed companies to
report on the extent to which they comply with the principles
incorporated in King III. The Board of directors is of the
opinion that Afrox is compliant with King III and the JSE
Listings Requirements, except for the following instances:

King III recommendation

Explanation

The Chairman of the Board should be an
independent non-executive director.

Our current Chairman, Mike Huggon, is the Managing Director (MD) of Region
UK and Africa within The Linde Group structure. As such, he is the prime Board
representative of Afrox’s majority shareholder. He is also currently acting as
the Afrox Group MD. As he is not an independent non-executive, Afrox has
appointed a lead independent director, Dr Khotso Mokhele.

The positions of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should not be held by
the same person.

The Managing Director, Brett Kimber, resigned on 12 January 2015. The Board
Chairman assumed the executive responsibilities in the interim pending the
appointment of a suitable successor, the Board believes this is in the best
interests of the Company.

Board of directors
The Board is the highest decision-making body and is
responsible for governance. The Board operates on the
understanding that sound governance practices are
fundamental to earning the trust of stakeholders. This
is critical to sustaining performance and preserving
shareholder value.
In discharging its duties, the Board delegates authority to
relevant Board committees and individuals with clearly
defined mandates. The Board maintains effective control
through a well-developed governance framework that
provides for delegation of authority.
Board committees facilitate the discharge of Board
responsibilities and provide in-depth focus on specific areas.
Each committee has a mandate, which the Board reviews
at least annually. The Board delegates authority to the
executive directors to manage the business and affairs of
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Afrox. The Executive Committee assists the Managing
Director when the Board is not in session, subject to
statutory parameters and the Board’s limits on the
delegation of authority to the Chief Executive. The Board
monitors and reviews the delegated authorities on an
annual basis.
Refer to (http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/
Index.html.) for our Board and Executive Committee
members and summaries of their curricula vitae.

Board meetings
Board meetings are held four times a year and ad hoc
meetings are arranged whenever necessary. Where
directors are unable to attend any particular Board meeting,
they communicate comments they may have regarding the
agenda and general items to the committee chairmen, to be
raised at the relevant meeting.

our business

Composition of the Board

distributed to directors before each Board meeting. During

As at the date of this report, the Afrox Board consists of
six independent non-executive directors, two nonexecutive directors employed in executive capacities within
The Linde Group, the financial director and the chairman
(and acting managing director) who is also an executive
within The Linde Group.

the meeting, the appropriate executive director explains
and motivates business items where decisions are required.
The directors have unrestricted access to all Company
information and records. Where directors are based abroad
and are not able to attend, video or teleconferencing
facilities allow them to participate in the debate and
conclusions reached.

Schedule of attendance at Board meetings

2
3
4

Meetings
attended

No
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes

4 November 2011
1 December 2005
23 August 2012
1 December 2005
22 November 2012
20 May 2011
22 November 2012
22 July 2014
26 February 2015

4/4
4/4
4/4
3/4
2/4
3/4
4/4
2/2
0/0

No
No

1 January 2012
1 April 2012

4/4
4/4

Appointed July 2014
Resigned effective 12 January 2015
Resigned 26 February 2015 effective 31 May 2015
Appointed 26 February 2015

The Chairman and Managing Director

Rotation of directors and confirmation of new
appointments
At the annual general meeting to be held on 28 May 2015,
shareholders will be asked to confirm the re-appointment of
MS Huggon, SN Maseko, CF Wells, N Qangule and GJ Strauss,
who will retire in accordance with the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation but who, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election, with the exception of
SN Maseko, who will also retire at the AGM but is not
available for re-election.

Selection and succession planning
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The NGMR Committee makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment of executive and non-executive directors
and on the composition of the Board. Having due regard for
the recommendations of the committee, the Board makes
such appointments as it may deem appropriate, subject to
the approval of shareholders being obtained at the ensuing
annual general meeting. Directors are appointed on the basis

governance and remuneration

The Chairman is an executive of the controlling shareholder,
Linde AG, and the Chief Executive of Region UK and Africa
of which Afrox forms part. The Chairman provides overall
leadership of the Board and its committees. In conjunction
with the Nominations, Governance and Management of
Resources (NGMR) Committee, he monitors and evaluates
the performance of the Managing Director to ensure that the
strategic and operational objectives of the Company are
achieved. The Board recognise that the roles of the Chairman
and the MD should be separate to ensure a balance of power
and authority, such that no one individual has unfettered
powers of decision making. However, the Chairman of the
Board assumed all the responsibility of the MD on the
resignation of Brett Kimber on 12 January 2015. This was
considered to be in the best interest of the Company and this
arrangement will cease with the appointment of the new
MD. This appointment is expected to be concluded by
June 2015.

performance review

1

Appointment date

leadership review

Non-executive directors
Mike Huggon (Chairman)
Dr Khotso Mokhele (Lead)
Richard Gearing
David Lawrence
Sipho Maseko
Matthias von Plotho
Chris Wells
Nomfundo Qangule1
Lean (GJ) Strauss4
Executive directors
Brett Kimber (Managing Director)2
Nick Thomson (Financial Director)3

Independent

material matters and
strategic response

The agenda and relevant supporting documents are

Leadership and governance continued

of skills, acumen, experience and their actual or potential
level of contribution to and impact on the activities of Afrox,
and racial and gender diversity. All directors have access to
management, including the Company Secretary, and to
information required to enable them to carry out their duties
and responsibilities fully and effectively.

The Company Secretary acts as secretary to all Board
appointed committees.

The Board charter

the appointment and removal of the Company Secretary.

The Board operates under an approved charter, which
regulates the way business is conducted in line with the
principles of sound corporate governance. The Board charter
is aligned to principles recommended by King III and details
the powers of the Board and provides that the Board has
ultimate accountability and responsibility for Afrox’s
performance and affairs. The charter is updated annually
to keep up with best practice and is amended to take into
account any changes brought about by new legislation.

In line with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board has
assessed the competence, qualifications and experience of
the Company Secretary and concluded that she is competent
to carry out her duties. The Board remains responsible for

Dealing in securities
Afrox has a policy in place to ensure compliance with all
legislation and regulations governing insider trading and
prohibited periods. This policy complies with the JSE Listings
Requirements and restricts directors, officers and employees
from dealing in Company securities prior to any
announcement in respect of its financial results or during
any period surrounding the disclosure of any price sensitive
information.

Performance assessment
Directors are required to dedicate sufficient time to be able
to monitor, evaluate and comment effectively to the Board
and management on the financial and operational
information supplied to the Board.
A self-assessment for 2014 was performed by the Board and
committees and reviewed by the Chairman of the NGMR
Committee with the appropriate feedback provided to the
Board on areas that could be enhanced.

The Company Secretary
Cheryl Singh is the Company Secretary and was appointed
in January 2014. The Board is satisfied that an arm’s length
relationship exists between it and the Company Secretary,
who is not a member of the Board or a prescribed officer
of Afrox.
The Company Secretary provides the Board with guidance
in respect of the discharge of directors’ duties and their
responsibilities and regarding legislation, regulatory, and
governance procedures and requirements. The Board has
access to, and is aware of, the responsibilities and duties of
the Company Secretary and has committed itself to ensure
that the Company Secretary is afforded the support required
to perform her duties.
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In terms of the policy, the Chairman approves all transactions
in Company securities prior to any such transactions. The
policy is reviewed from time-to-time to ensure continued
compliance with applicable legislation. The Audit Committee
and the Board review the policy on an annual basis.

Board appointed committees
The Board remains accountable and responsible for the
performance and affairs of the Company. However, it
delegates to management and Board appointed committees,
certain functions to assist it to discharge its duties properly.
Each Board appointed committee acts within agreed, written
terms of reference. The Chairman of each Board appointed
committee reports and provides minutes of committee
meetings at the scheduled Board meetings.
With the exception of the SHEQ and SET committees, where
the Managing Director is an official member, the Board
appointed committees’ members are non-executive
directors and the Chairman of each Board appointed
committee is an independent non-executive director.
The executive directors attend Board appointed committee
meetings by invitation. The SET and Audit Committee reports
for the year ended 31 December 2014 are available online
(at http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/
Index.html.)

our business

Committee members and
meeting attendance

Meeting attendance

Purpose

3/3

The Audit Committee is an independent statutory
committee appointed by the shareholders to fulfil the
obligations contained in both the Companies Act 2008 and
the requirements contained in King III. It also executes
further duties delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board of directors. In addition to having specific statutory
duties to the shareholders, in terms of the Companies Act,
2008, the Committee assists the Board by advising and
making submissions on financial reporting, oversight of
the risk management process and internal financial
controls, external and internal audit functions and
statutory and regulatory compliance of the Company.
The role of the Audit Committee, and how it achieved
its responsibilities, is described in its charter.

Audit Committee

3/3
2/2

2/2

material matters and
strategic response
leadership review

Chris Wells (Chair)
Independent non-executive
David Lawrence
Independent non-executive
Nomfundo Vuyiswa Lila
Qangule
(appointed 22 July 2014)
Independent non-executive
Dr Khotso Mokhele
Independent non-executive
(appointed 25 March 2014)
(Audit Committee report
available online at http://
www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.)

Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources (NGMR) Committee
Management of resources
3/3
3/3
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governance and remuneration

	
To determine and make recommendations to the Board
on the framework, policy and costs of executive and
senior management remuneration
	
Determines and recommends the remuneration
strategy to ensure that executive directors and other
senior employees are adequately remunerated
	
Refers specific recommendations for independent
director remuneration to the Board for deliberation.
No person is involved in any decision as to his or her
own remuneration
	
Reviews and advises on the general principles under
which compensation, pension arrangements, training,
succession plans and performance management are
applied to senior employees of Afrox
	
Reviews the rules of any share appreciation rights or
share rewards schemes operated by Afrox
	
Monitors and reviews Afrox’s retirement funds to
ensure compliance with current best practice standards,
industry practices and legislation

performance review

David Lawrence (Chair)
Independent non-executive
Dr Khotso Mokhele
Independent non-executive

Leadership and governance continued

Committee members and
meeting attendance

Meeting attendance

Purpose

Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources (NGMR) Committee continued
Nominations and corporate governance
David Lawrence (Chair)
Independent non-executive

3/3

Dr Khotso Mokhele
Independent non-executive

3/3

	
Monitors and reviews the Company’s policies, practices
and compliance with corporate governance principles
and regulations
	
Serves as a Nominations Committee and as part of its
function:
	– prior to the annual general meeting, the Committee
reviews and makes recommendations on the
retirement and re-election of directors by rotation
	– identifies, evaluates and nominates candidates to
fill vacancies for executive, non-executive and
independent directors of the Company for approval
by the Board as a whole
	– reviews the size of the Board, committee structures
and director assignments
	– once every three years an independent assessor
evaluates the Board’s effectiveness and its
performance as a whole. However, at certain intervals
the Board, through the committee, conducts
self-performance evaluations

Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) Committee
Dr Khotso Mokhele (Chair)
Independent non-executive
Sipho Maseko
Independent non-executive
Richard Gearing
Non-executive director
Mike Huggon
Non-executive director
Brett Kimber
Managing Director
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Ensures that the management of safety, health,
environment and quality within Afrox is aligned with
the overall business strategy of the Company and is
geared towards compliance and fulfilment of its
commitments and obligations in these fields
	
Reviews the policies and performance of Afrox and the
implementation of safety, health, environment and
quality policies
	
Considers and provides guidance to the Board on major
safety, health, environmental and quality projects
	
Ensures that the Board is informed about all significant
impacts on the Company in the safety, health,
environment and quality field and how these processes
and activities are managed
	
Considers substantive national and international
regulatory and technical developments in the field
of safety, health, environment and quality
	
Monitors the Company’s safety, health, environment
and quality performance progress on continuous
improvement

our business

Committee members and
meeting attendance

Meeting attendance

Purpose

Social, Ethics and Transformation (SET) Committee
3/3
3/3
3/3

governance and remuneration
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leadership review

The committee has specific statutory duties in terms of
provisions of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (Companies
Act), the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and
any other applicable law or regulatory provision:
	
To monitor the Company’s activities, having regard to
relevant legislation, to other legal requirements, or
prevailing codes of best practice
	
To draw matters within its mandate to the attention of
the Board
	
To report to shareholders at the AGM on the following
range of activities:
– social and economic development
– good corporate citizenship
– environment, health and public safety
– consumer relationships
– labour and employment
	
To formulate strategies and monitor a range of activities
to ensure the successful transformation of Afrox, in the
areas of Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
(BBBEE), sustainable development and good corporate
citizenship, by assessing the Company’s performance
against the following criteria:
– black equity participation
– employment equity
– management transformation
– skills development
– affirmative procurement
– supplier development

material matters and
strategic response

Dr Khotso Mokhele (Chair)
Independent non-executive
Mike Huggon
Non-executive director
Brett Kimber
Managing Director
(SET committee report
available online at http://
www.afrox.co.za/en/
investor_relations/
Index.html.)

Leadership and governance continued

Public and shareholder
communications
Communication to the public and shareholders embodies
the principles of balanced reporting, clarity and openness.
Positive and negative aspects of both financial and
non-financial information are provided.
We maintain an active dialogue with our key financial
audiences, including institutional shareholders, investment
analysts and our funding community. Our policy is to present
to investors, fund managers and analysts twice a year after
the release of the Company’s results.

Code of Ethics
Our Code of Ethics is linked to good corporate governance.
We have always maintained the highest ethical standards of
business conduct and compliance with applicable laws,
regulations and industry standards. We aim to earn the trust
of our customers, shareholders, colleagues, suppliers and
communities through honesty, performance excellence,
good corporate governance and accountability. We expect
confidential information and Company time and assets to be
respected. We believe in open and honest communication,
fair treatment, equal opportunities and support the
fundamental principles of human rights.
While common sense, good judgement and conscience
apply in managing difficult or uncertain situations, the Code
of Ethics assists in detailing the standards and priorities
within the Company, and specific rules covering human
rights, safety at work and environmental and supply
management. Guiding principles or core values within the
Code define our responsibilities towards, and what we
expect from:
directors;
employees;
local communities and the public;
customers, suppliers and markets; and
shareholders.
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An integrity line has been established to enable employees
to report contraventions of the Code of Ethics. To enhance
the monitoring and managing of ethics in the organisation,
an Ethics and Compliance Committee (subcommittee of Exco)
was established, consisting of representation from finance,
internal audit, human resources, forensics and legal. The
diverse committee membership allows for an integrated and
cohesive approach to managing ethical risks and
opportunities across the business.

Interest of directors in contracts
The directors have certified that they had no material
personal interests in any transactions of any significance
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries. No conflicts of
interest exist regarding directors’ interests in contracts.
There was no change in directors’ interests in contracts and
shareholding in the period between the financial year-end
and the date of signature of this report.
Various banking and employee share scheme transactions
have been undertaken on the Company’s behalf by Investec
Bank Limited. David Lawrence is a director of Investec Bank
Limited. All transactions were in the ordinary course
of business.

Introduction
This report sets out our remuneration philosophy for our
executive management, non-executive directors and our
other employees.

The remuneration process is designed to support the
successful execution of the organisational strategy by:
	
attracting, motivating and retaining high-performing
employees by being competitive in the market;
	
encouraging and rewarding employees to achieve or
exceed the objectives and targets of the business as

of other stakeholders.
Our philosophy is to balance a flexible approach that
recognises differences in individual performance, value
and contribution to the organisation, with a consistent
framework that ensures equitable pay levels and defensible
remuneration decisions. At all levels there is a rigorous
objective-setting process to ensure shareholder

For base pay, we take cognisance of the 50th percentile of
a selection of peer companies, primarily drawn from the
manufacturing sector. However, we do, on occasion, pay
above this benchmark to attract the best talent. We
also strive to differentiate ourselves by providing a

Responsibility for governing
remuneration and developing
relevant policy

For more information on the NGMR Committee, refer to the
corporate governance report on page 57.

Service contracts
Except as negotiated under mutual separation
arrangements, no director has a service contract with the
Company containing a notice period exceeding six months
or providing for compensation and benefits (excluding
share-linked benefits vesting in terms of the applicable rules
of the scheme) in excess of six months’ salary. All executive
directors are retained on employment contracts containing
notice periods ranging between one month and six months.

Remuneration for executive directors
Remuneration packages for executive directors comprise the
following components:

Guaranteed component

To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, it has

Executive directors receive a guaranteed element of
remuneration. This is based on cost to Company. Cost to
Company comprises a fixed base salary and benefits
(medical aid, life cover, travel and related allowances and
retirement fund membership). Our executive directors
receive guaranteed remuneration in line with market levels,
taking into account their responsibilities.

appointed and mandated a NGMR Committee, which
consists of two non-executive directors and the Chairman
of the Board attends by invitation. The primary objective of
the NGMR Committee in respect of remuneration is to
provide input to and approve the reward strategy.
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The Board is responsible for the Remuneration Policy.

governance and remuneration

comprehensive basket of relevant employee benefits.

The committee uses the services of a number of advisors to
assist in tracking market trends related to all levels of
employees, including PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory
Services and Hay Group Consultants. The Linde Group also
provides significant input into the establishment of the
remuneration practices of Afrox.

performance review

expectations are met and/or exceeded.

to bonus and share incentive schemes;
	
recommending the non-executive directors’ remuneration
for approval at the annual general meeting;
	
reviewing the annual salary increase process and
the resulting affordability of the proposed increases; and
	
ensuring alignment of remuneration practices with Afrox’s
overall remuneration philosophy.

leadership review

contained in the business strategy; and
	
aligning the economic interests of employees with those

It is responsible for:
	
approving remuneration packages for executive directors;
	
approving policy and the award arising therefrom relating

material matters and
strategic response

Remuneration philosophy

our business

Remuneration report

Remuneration report continued

Short-term incentives
Short-term incentives are designed to reward executive
directors for achieving stipulated strategic annual
objectives, thereby ensuring that a significant portion of
executive directors’ cost is variable.
Executive directors’ short-term incentives are based on both
Company financial and non-financial KPIs and individual
performance. Typically the split between Company and
individual performance is 50% and 50% respectively and
short-term incentives are typically between 40% and 60%
of base salary.

Long-term incentives
Long-term incentives aim to encourage executive directors
to execute our long-term strategy successfully. Executive
directors take part in the share-based incentive scheme.
These schemes are described in more detail in the section
that follows.

the remuneration package is set taking into account base
pay at the 50th percentile of the market, and the skills of the
specific employee. Increases in the guaranteed component
are determined in line with market movements and reflect
individual performance.
Employees in a customer facing sales function receive a
variable bi-annual reward linked directly to the achievement
of specific targets on top of their guaranteed components.

Short-term incentives
At a management level, we use short-term incentives to
encourage achievement of stipulated annual objectives,
thereby ensuring that a significant portion of pay is variable
and linked to performance.
Senior management’s short-term incentives are based
on both Company financial and non-financial KPIs and
individual performance. Typically the split between
Company and individual performance is 70% and 30%

Detail on the remuneration of executive directors can be
found on page 64.

Remuneration for senior management
identified as prescribed officers and
employees
Remuneration packages for senior management and
employees contain some or all of the following components,
depending on the individual’s level in the Company.

Guaranteed component
All permanent employees who are not in a sales function,
irrespective of level, receive a guaranteed element of
remuneration. This is based on cost to Company and
comprises a fixed basic salary as well as compulsory benefits
(medical aid, travel and related allowances, life cover and
retirement fund membership). The guaranteed portion of
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respectively and short-term incentives are typically up to
30% of base salary.
The NGMR Committee approves the Company’s primary
bonus pools and oversees the principles applied in
allocating these pools to business units and individuals.
The short-term incentives are paid annually.

Long-term incentives
Senior management, together with executive directors,
take part in the Company’s share-based incentive scheme.
The overall Company and individual performance is taken
into account when the NGMR Committee decides on the
allocation. It is the view of the committee that the incentive
scheme is a direct link to the Company performance through
the share price. In addition, the scheme is intended primarily
to attract and retain competent employees.

our business

Share Appreciation Rights scheme (SARs)

Review of long-term incentives

The Share Appreciation Rights scheme converted from
a cash-settled to equity-settled scheme in 2012.

The NGMR Committee regularly reviews the long-term
incentive scheme to ensure alignment to our long-term
objectives and any relevant changes in tax legislation.

Share price at exercise date

X

Number of
rights exercised

The executive directors who held office on 31 December 2014
had a direct interest in 137 000 share appreciation rights
in the Company, granted at an average price of R21.29
per share.

The NGMR Committee reviews the fees annually and makes
recommendations to the Board for consideration. Following
recommendations from the committee, the Board proposes
the non-executive director fees for shareholder approval at
the annual general meeting.
The Chairman of the Board is entitled to receive a fixed
retainer and would not receive any other fees or retainer for
attendance at Board or committee meetings. However, as
the current Chairman holds this position by virtue of his
executive position in The Linde Group, no retainer is
currently payable.
The fee structure for 2014 and that proposed for the 2015
financial year are reflected below and contained in the
Notice to Shareholders on page 64.

governance and remuneration

The FSP was introduced during 2012, with effect
from 1 January 2012. Executive directors who held
office on 31 December 2014 had an indirect interest in
103 500 forfeitable shares. The vesting of certain of the
shares is conditional only upon the employee being
employed by the Company at the vesting date and for other
shares granted both on continued employment and on
reaching predetermined performance conditions. Note:
during the vesting period, all dividends paid accrue to the
employee concerned.

The remuneration of non-executive directors for the
financial year is detailed on page 64.

performance review

Forfeitable Share Plan (FSP)

Remuneration for non-executive
directors

leadership review

Share price
Share price
at exercise date – at grant date

More information on the remuneration of senior
management identified as prescribed officers can be found
on page 64.

material matters and
strategic response

In terms of the rules of the various share schemes, the
aggregate number of share appreciation rights together
with forfeitable shares shall not exceed the equivalent of
10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital and no
one individual may hold in excess of the equivalent of 1% of
the Company’s issued share capital. The share appreciation
rights are converted into ordinary shares (providing
performance conditions are met by the vesting date) by
applying the following formula at the date of exercise of
the option:
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Remuneration report continued

Independent non-executive directors’ remuneration

The fees payable to the independent non-executive directors are reflected below:

Category

Role

Independent lead director

2014
Current practice
Retainer
Fee per
fee
meeting
R
R

2015
Proposed payment
Retainer
Fee per
fee
meeting
R
R

370 000

370 000

10 500

10 500

Total fee
increase
%
–

Board

Director

212 000

10 500

212 000

10 500

–

Audit Committee

Chairperson
Member

143 000
71 000

10 500
10 500

143 000
71 000

10 500
10 500

–
–

Chairperson

95 000

10 500

95 000

10 500

–

Member

48 000

10 500

48 000

10 500

–

– Nominations, Governance and
Management of Resources Committee
– Safety, Health, Environment and
Quality Committee
– Social, Ethics and Transformation
Committee

}

Director and executive management emoluments (R’000)

Name

Months
paid

2014
Non-executive directors*
Current directors
DM Lawrence
SN Maseko
KDK Mokhele
NV Lila Qangule
CF Wells

12
12
12
5
12

Executive directors
Current directors
BD Kimber•
NA Thomson#

12
12

Executive management
Prescribed officer 1
Prescribed officer 2
Prescribed officer 3
Prescribed officer 4
Total emoluments

12
12
12
12

Fees

Pension
payment/
Remunecontriration
butions

Benefits,
allowances
Per- and gains
formance
on share
bonus^ incentives

Total

2 366

–

–

–

–

2 366

473
292
847
325
429

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

473
292
847
325
429

–

6 881

652

3 392

1 089

12 014

–
–

4 323
2 558

280
372

2 458
934

286
803

7 347
4 667

–

6 289

1 228

1 355

1 572

10 444

–
–
–

1 297
1 613
1 169
2 210

189
235
170
634

438
257
243
417

511
574
487
–

2 435
2 679
2 069
3 261

2 366

13 170

1 880

4 747

2 661

24 824

* Linde non-executive directors are not reflected as they do not receive emoluments from the Company
^ In respect of 2013 financial performance
• BD Kimber resigned with effect from 12 January 2015. The severance package of R16 million resulting from his resignation
was fully provided for in the 2014 annual financial statements. The severance package took into account his 24 years of
service with The Linde Group and the agreed notional cost of re-locating him and his family back to the USA in accordance
with his employment contract.
#
Resigned 26 February 2015 effective 31 May 2015
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Director and executive management emoluments (R’000)

2 158

–

–

–

–

2 158

12
12
12
12

438
220
657
352

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

438
220
657
352

8
4

191
300

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

191
300

–

6 803

937

5 870

6 280

19 890

12
12

–
–

3 018
2 454

255
357

3 395
1 307

1 082
755

7 750
4 873

9

–

1 331

325

1 168

4 443

7 267

–

4 745

856

874

1 978

8 453

–
–
–

1 224
1 040
1 121
1 360

178
151
162
365

659
–
215
–

461
468
550
499

2 522
1 659
2 048
2 224

2 158

11 548

1 793

6 744

8 258

30 501

2013
Non-executive directors*
Current directors
DM Lawrence
SN Maseko
KDK Mokhele
CF Wells
Former directors
M Malebye
LL van Niekerk
Executive directors
Current directors
BD Kimber
NA Thomson
Former directors
J Narayadoo
Executive management
Prescribed officer 1
Prescribed officer 2
Prescribed officer 3
Prescribed officer 4
Total emoluments

12
8
12
8

Total

* Linde non-executive directors are not reflected as they do not receive emoluments from the Company
^ In respect of 2012 financial performance

performance review

Remuneration

leadership review

Fees

Months
paid

material matters and
strategic response

Name

Benefits,
allowances
Per- and gains
formance
on share
bonus^ incentives

Pension
payment/
contributions

governance and remuneration
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Remuneration report continued

Share Appreciation Rights scheme (SARs) and Forefeitable Share Plan (FSPs) granted during the year

Number of
SARs

Number of
FSPs with
performance
conditions

Number of
FSPs without
performance
conditions

1 533

56 000

63 000

21 000

876
657

32 000
24 000

36 000
27 000

12 000
9 000

1 176

81 000

40 500

13 500

392
392
392
–

27 000
27 000
27 000
–

13 500
13 500
13 500
–

4 500
4 500
4 500
–

2 709

137 000

103 500

34 500

2013
Executive directors

665

34 000

38 250

12 750

BD Kimber
NA Thomson

391
274

20 000
14 000

22 500
15 750

7 500
5 250

Executive management

661

67 750

30 975

11 775

Prescribed officer 1
Prescribed officer 2
Prescribed officer 3
Prescribed officer 4

192
192
85
192

19 200
19 200
10 150
19 200

9 600
9 600
2 175
9 600

3 200
3 200
2 175
3 200

1 326

101 750

69 225

24 525

Name

Fair value
at options
at issue date
R’000

2014
Executive directors
BD Kimber^
NA Thomson
Executive management
Prescribed officer 1
Prescribed officer 2
Prescribed officer 3
Prescribed officer 4
Total SARs and FSPs granted during the year

Total SARs and FSPs granted during the year

Vested and non-vested number of rights*

2014
Vested
number of
rights
(exercisable)

Name

2013
Non-vested
number of
rights
(not yet
exercisable)

Vested
number
of rights
(exercisable)

Non-vested
number of
rights
(not yet
exercisable)

Executive directors
BD Kimber
J Narayadoo
NA Thomson
Executive management
Prescribed officer 1
Prescribed officer 2
Prescribed officer 3
Prescribed officer 4

2 000
–
–

180 000
–
130 000

–
256 350
–

102 000
69 472
70 000

205 149
–
120 792
–

109 000
77 000
74 000
32 000

173 950
–
124 125
–

95 199
32 000
46 292
32 000

Total vested and non-vested number of rights

327 941

602 000

554 425

446 963

* Includes: FSP without performance criteria, FSP with performance criteria and SARs
^ Both FSPs and SARs will automatically vest upon the effective resignation date in terms of the scheme rules
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Shareholding of directors and executive management
2014
Name

Non-beneficial

100
–
100

–
241
–

100
200
100

–
100

–
100
100
–
–

500
–
–
–
126
100

–
100
100
100
–
–

–
–
–
–

100
100
100
–

–
–
–
–

100
100
100
100

–
–
–
500
–
–

*
+
~
>

Audit Committee member
Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee member
Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources Committee member
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Committee members
#
Resigned during the 2013 financial year
^ Resigned during the 2014 post balance sheet period

The directors have certified that they had no material personal interests in any transactions of any significance with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries. Accordingly, no conflicts of interest with regard to directors’ interests in contracts exist.
There was no change in directors’ interests in contracts and shareholding in the period between the financial year-end and the
date of signature of this report.
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During the year various banking and employee share scheme transactions have been undertaken on the Group’s behalf by
Investec Bank Limited. David Lawrence is a director of Investec Bank Limited. All transactions were in the ordinary course
of business.

performance review

Interest of directors in contracts								

leadership review

Beneficial

material matters and
strategic response

Executive directors
BD Kimber^
J Narayadoo#
NA Thomson^
Non-executive independent directors
DM Lawrence*~
M Malebye*#
S Maseko>
Dr KDK Mokhele~+>
LL van Niekerk*~>#
CF Wells*
Non-executive directors
R Gearing>
MS Huggon
M von Plotho
DM Woodrow#

2013

Beneficial Non-beneficial

Summarised
consolidated
financial
statements and
other information
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Five-year financial review
R’million

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

GROUP
SUMMARISED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Retirement benefit assets
Deferred taxation assets
Other non-current assets
Current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)
Assets held for sale

3 166
475
15
163
1 564
–

3 034
552
9
199
1 833
–

2 854
348
15
241
1 588
44

2 657
601
6
273
1 574
–

2 637
544
11
304
1 463
–

Total assets

5 383

5 627

5 090

5 111

4 959

Equity and liabilities
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Borrowings (net of cash and cash equivalents)
Deferred taxation liabilities
Current liabilities (excluding borrowings)

3 019
28
503
512
1 321

3 202
37
649
570
1 169

2 804
27
615
528
1 116

2 827
38
716
524
1 006

2 695
32
842
514
876

Total equity and liabilities

5 383

5 627

5 090

5 111

4 959

5 834
(5 016)

5 825
(4 945)

5 558
(4 760)

5 246
(4 472)

4 721
(4 115)

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation,
amortisation and impairments (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of tangible assets
Impairment of intangible assets

818
(381)
(35)
(17)

880
(366)
–
–

798
(328)
(31)
–

774
(283)
(153)
–

606
(283)
(104)
–

Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT) before
restructuring costs
Restructuring costs

385
(185)

514
–

439
–

338
–

219
–

Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT)
Net finance expense
Income from associate

200
(12)
1

514
(47)
1

439
(35)
4

338
(63)
3

219
(63)
6

Profit before taxation
Income taxation expense

189
(93)

468
(144)

408
(133)

278
(95)

162
(56)

Profit for the year

96

324

275

183

106

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

83
13

309
15

262
13

171
12

94
12

SUMMARISED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue
Operating expenses (excluding restructuring costs)

Owners of the Company
Dividends declared

83
(136)

309
(139)

262
(154)

171
(93)

94
(117)

Retained (loss)/income

(53)

170

108

78

(23)

200
986
514
13
(146)

514
833
505
–
18

439
936
546
12
(115)

338
844
416
5
(126)

219
606
294
–
(72)

CASH FLOW SUMMARY
Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT)
Cash generated from operations
Total capital expenditure (tangible)
Acquisition of intangible assets
Change in funding requirements
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2011

2010

309
309

309
309

309
309

309
309

309
309

26.8
36.2
24.0
1.1
1.5
1 158

100.1
95.3
47.0
2.1
2.0
1 263

84.9
88.5
45.0
1.9
2.0
1 170

55.3
87.6
45.0
1.3
2.0
1 134

30.5
55.5
27.0
1.1
2.1
1 143

Profitability and asset management
EBITDA margin (%)
EBIT margin (%)*
Return on net assets (%)*
Net asset turn (times)
Return on shareholders’ equity (%)*
Return on capital employed (%)*
Effective rate of taxation (%)

14.0
3.4
5.4
1.6
2.7
4.7
49.3

15.1
8.8
13.7
1.6
10.3
12.2
30.8

14.4
7.9
12.4
1.6
9.3
10.9
32.5

14.8
6.4
9.6
1.5
6.2
8.3
34.2

12.8
4.6
6.1
1.3
3.8
5.2
34.6

Liquidity and leverage
Interest cover (times)
Liability ratio
Current ratio
Gearing (%)

17.4
0.7
1.2
12.4

10.9
0.6
1.6
14.6

12.5
0.6
1.4
15.5

5.4
0.6
1.6
17.4

3.5
0.6
1.7
20.6

2 856
2 016

2 930
1 886

3 248
1 701

3 288
1 572

3 388
1 383

66

152

125

88

47

STATISTICS
Total number of shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) (millions)
Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions)
Ordinary share performance
Basic earnings per share (cents)
Headline earnings per share (cents)
Dividends declared per share (cents)
Dividend cover – basic earnings (times)
Dividend cover – headline earnings (times)
Net asset value per share (cents)

Value added
Number of permanent employees
Revenue per average permanent employee (R’000)
Profit before taxation per average permanent
employee (R’000)
* After restructuring costs of R185 million

performance review

2012

leadership review

2013

material matters and
strategic response

2014

governance and remuneration
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Ratio definitions
Basic earnings per share

profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year

Borrowings

Net debt, calculated as borrowings, plus bank overdraft, less cash and
cash equivalents

Capital employed

Shareholders’ equity, total borrowings, deferred taxation, and noncontrolling interests

Current ratio

current assets (excluding taxation and cash and cash equivalents)
current liabilities (excluding taxation and bank overdraft)

Dividend cover

profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
total dividends paid declared

Dividend declared per share

interim dividend per share paid plus final dividend per share declared

EBIT margin

EBIT
revenue

EBITDA margin

EBITDA
revenue

Effective rate on taxation

taxation
profit before taxation

Gearing

borrowings
total capital employed

Headline earnings per share

profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding
impairment and profit or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(net of taxation)
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year

Interest cover

EBIT
net finance (expense)/income

Liability ratio

gross borrowings and current liabilities
total equity and liabilities (excluding borrowings and current liabilities)

Net asset turn

revenue
average net assets

Net asset value per share

net asset value
number of ordinary shares in issue at year-end

Net assets

total assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents, deferred taxation assets
and retirement benefit assets) less current liabilities (excluding borrowings)

Profit before taxation per employee

profit before taxation
average number of permanent employees

Return on capital employed

EBIT
average capital employed

Return on net assets

EBIT
average net assets

Return on shareholders’ equity

profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
average shareholders’ equity

Revenue per employee

revenue for the year
average number of permanent employees
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Shareholders’ profile

for the year ended 31 December 2014
SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
To the best knowledge of management and after reasonable enquiry, the spread of shareholders at 31 December 2014 (as
defined in the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited) was as follows:
2014

2013
% of
issued
share Number
capital of shares

% of
holders

Number
of shares

5

0.17

209 591 978

61.13

75

2.48

42 050 669

295

9.75

% of
holders

Number
of shares

% of
issued
share
capital

6

0.18

208 682 678

60.87

12.26

108

3.21

58 468 899

17.05

32 608 575

9.51

416

12.36

34 696 467

10.12

2.21

52 751 931

15.39

69

2.05

33 877 446

9.88

2 448
82
53

80.93
2.71
1.75

4 842 176
612 560
395 021

1.41
0.18
0.11

2 610
94
63

77.54
2.79
1.87

5 480 986
1 080 674
565 760

1.60
0.32
0.16

Total

3 025

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

3 366

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

3 011

99.54

133 259 632

38.87

3 352

99.58

134 170 932

39.14

14

0.46

209 593 278

61.13

14

0.42

208 681 978

60.86

1
9

0.03
0.30

173 046 413
1 300

50.47
–

1
9

0.03
0.27

173 046 413
1 300

50.47
–

4

0.13

36 545 565

10.66

4

0.12

35 634 265

10.39

3 025

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

3 366

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

Shareholder type
Public shareholders
Non-public
shareholders (within
The Linde AG Group)
Strategic holdings
(more than 10%)
Directors’ holdings
Own holdings and
share trusts
Total

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
The shareholders registered as holding 1% or more of the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2014 were:
2014

2013
% of total

173 046 413

50.47

173 046 413

50.47

34 285 308
23 576 790

10.00
6.88

34 285 308
27 446 357

10.00
8.01

18 711 568
26 506 607
8 973 868
–
3 506 943
7 318 405
8 982 618
4 071 037

5.46
7.73
2.62
–
1.02
2.13
2.62
1.19

19 035 098
13 220 855
9 563 999
5 043 339
4 301 840
4 219 548
3 637 384
–

5.55
3.86
2.79
1.47
1.25
1.23
1.06
–

Other shareholders

308 979 557
33 873 353

90.12
9.88

293 800 141
49 052 769

85.69
14.31

Total

342 852 910

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

Beneficial shareholdings of 1% or more
BOC Holdings (wholly owned subsidiary of Linde AG)
Afrox African Investments (Pty) Ltd (held as treasury
shares)
Aberdeen Global Fund
Government Employees Pension Fund
(previously Public Investment Corporation)
State Street Bank (Custodian)
Allan Gray
Investec Asset Management
RBC Dexia (Custodian)
JP Morgan (Custodian)
CitiGroup (Custodian)
Old Mutual Group
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Number of
shares held
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Number of
shares held

performance review

67

leadership review

Distribution of
shareholders
Public companies
Insurance, investment
and trust companies
Pension, provident
funds and trusts
Banks and nominee
companies
Individuals and
deceased estates
Corporate bodies
Private companies

material matters and
strategic response

Number
of
shareholders

Shareholders’ profile continued

DIVIDENDS AND STATISTICS
Dividends
Details of gross dividends declared, paid and payable are as follows:

Number
174
175
176

Declaration
date

Last date
to trade
(LDT) shares
cum dividend

Ordinary
shares
trade ex
dividend

22 August
2013
27 February
2014
21 August
2014

4 October
2013
10 April
2014
3 October
2014

7 October
2013
11 April
2014
6 October
2014

Record
date (RD)
11 October
2013
17 April
2014
10 October
2014

Payment date
14 October
2013
22 April
2014
13 October
2014

2014
Amount
per share
(cents)*

2013
Amount
per share
(cents)*
27.0
20.0

24.0
24.0

47.0

* Before taxation on dividends at 15%

Statistics

December
2014

December
2013

December
2012

Share price (cents)
– Closing
1 604
2 200
2 350
Ordinary shares in issue at financial
year-end (’000)
342 853
342 853
342 853
Number of shares traded (’000)
44 869
46 220
46 658
Value of shares traded (R’000)
878 493
1 013 911
899 409
Number of shares traded as a
percentage of shares issued
13.1
13.5
13.6
Earnings yield (%)
1.7
4.6
3.6
Ordinary dividend yield (%)
1.5
2.1
1.9
Price: basic earnings ratio
59.9
22.0
27.7
Price: headline earnings ratio
44.4
23.1
26.6
		
Definitions of ratios and terms utilised for statistics
Earnings yield:
Basic earnings divided by closing share price
Ordinary dividend yield:
Dividends declared per share divided by closing share price
Price: basic earnings ratio:
Closing share price divided by basic earnings
Price: headline earnings ratio:
Closing share price divided by headline earnings
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December
2011

December
2010

1 620

2 063

342 853
49 885
934 810

342 853
65 495
1 418 693

14.5
3.4
2.8
29.3
18.5

19.1
1.5
1.3
67.7
37.2

our business

Approval of the summarised consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate
accounting records and an effective system of risk management, as well as the preparation of the supplementary schedules
included in these financial statements.

material matters and
strategic response

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the summarised consolidated financial statements of African Oxygen
Limited, comprising the statement of financial position at 31 December 2014, the income statement and the statement of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial statements,
which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with the framework
concepts and the measurement and recognition requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and SAICA Financial
Reporting Guide as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial
Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. In addition, the directors are
responsible for preparing the Directors’ report.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns
and have no reason to believe they will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

These summarised consolidated financial statements of African Oxygen Limited were approved by the Board of directors on
26 February 2015 and are signed on their behalf by:

Nick Thomson
Financial Director

performance review

Mike Huggon
Chairman and acting Managing Director
Johannesburg

leadership review

These summarised consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 have been derived from the audited
consolidated financial statements of African Oxygen Limited for the year ended 31 December 2014, on which the auditors
KPMG Inc. have expressed an unmodified audit opinion.

26 February 2015

governance and remuneration
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Summarised consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2014

2014
Audited

2013
Audited

3 166
475
15
104
59

3 034
552
9
100
99

3 819

3 794

634
849
19
–
30
32
526

850
906
7
6
31
33
380

Current assets

2 090

2 213

Total assets

5 909

6 007

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

3 019
28

3 202
37

Total equity

3 047

3 239

Long-term borrowings
Deferred taxation liabilities

1 000
512

1 000
570

Non-current liabilities

1 512

1 570

Provisions
Trade, other payables and financial liabilities
Taxation payable
Derivative financial instruments
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
Bank overdrafts

197
1 080
43
1
–
29

34
1 107
28
–
3
26

Current liabilities

1 350

1 198

Total equity and liabilities

5 909

6 007

R’million

Note

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Retirement benefit assets
Deferred taxation assets
Lease receivables
Other non-current assets
Non-current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Lease receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Receivables from fellow subsidiaries of holding company
Taxation receivable
Cash and cash equivalents
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Summarised consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014
Audited

R’million

2013
Audited

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and
impairments (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of tangible assets
Impairment of intangible assets

818
(381)
(35)
(17)

880
(366)
–
–

Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT) before restructuring costs
Restructuring costs

385
(185)

514
–

Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT)
Net finance expense
Income from associate

200
(12)
1

514
(47)
1

Profit before taxation
Taxation

189
(93)

468
(144)

Profit for the year

96

324

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

83
13

309
15

Profit for the year

96

324

26.8

100.1

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share – cents

performance review

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2014

R’million

96
(119)

2013
Audited
324
228

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss

(41)

35

Translation differences on foreign operations
Translation differences relating to non-controlling interests
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (net of taxation)

(27)
(10)
(4)

29
5
1
(193)
276
(83)

Total comprehensive income for the year

(23)

552

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

(26)
3

532
20

(23)

552
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(78)
(109)
31

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined-benefit funds
Deferred taxation relating to actuarial losses/(gains)

governance and remuneration

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income after taxation

2014
Audited

leadership review

5 825
(4 945)
material matters and
strategic response

5 834
(5 016)

Revenue
Operating expenses (excluding restructuring costs)

Summarised consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2014

R’million
Balance at 1 January 2013
Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income,
net of taxation
Shares purchased on behalf
of employees
Share based payments, net
of taxation
Dividends paid
Balance at 31 December 2013

Share
capital
and
share
premium

Incentive
scheme
share and
sharebased
payment
reserves

552
–

8
–

–

–

–

–

FCTR and
hedging
reserves
(67)
30

Actuarial
gains/
(losses)

2 137
309

27
20

2 831
552

–

–

309

15

324

30

193

–

5

228

–

–

(16)

–

(16)

–

–

–
–

21
–

–
–

–
–

552

13

(37)

367

–

–

(31)

(78)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income,
net of taxation

–

–

–

–

Balance at 31 December 2014

78 I

–
(31)

–
(78)

–

(17)

–

–

–
–

(4)
–

–
–

–
–

552

(8)
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Total
equity

174
193

Total comprehensive income

Shares purchased on behalf
of employees
Share based payments, net
of taxation
Dividends paid

NonRetained controlling
earnings
interests

(68)

289

–
(139)

–
(10)

21
(149)

2 307

37

83

3

(23)

83

13

96

(10)

(119)

–
–
–
(136)
2 254

–
–
(12)
28

3 239

(17)
(4)
(148)
3 047

our business

Summarised consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2014

200

514

433
217

366
153

Operating cash flows before working capital adjustments
Working capital adjustments

850
136

1 033
(200)

Cash generated from operations
Vested shares purchased on behalf of employees
Net finance expenses
Taxation paid
Dividends received

986
(2)
(101)
(113)
1

833
(3)
(76)
(202)
–

Cash available from operating activities
Dividends paid to owners of the parent
Dividends to non-controlling interest

771
(136)
(12)

552
(139)
(10)

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets acquired
Proceeds from disposal of the RECO business
Other investing activities

623
(514)
(13)
–
66

403
(505)
–
36
48

Net cash outflow from investing activities
Borrowings raised
Borrowings repaid
Forfeited shares sold
Incentive scheme shares purchased on behalf of employees

(461)
–
(3)
1
(17)

(421)
1 216
(1 083)
–
(16)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities

(19)

117

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

143
354

99
255

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

497

354

performance review

Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Other non-cash movements

leadership review

2013
Audited

material matters and
strategic response

2014
Audited

R’million

governance and remuneration
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Segmental report
The business segments are based on internal reports which are regularly utilised by the Executive Committee (ExCo) to assess
the Group’s performance and allocate resources to the segments. Segments have been determined based on business
segments: Atmospheric Gases, LPG, Hard Goods and Rest of Africa.
Atmospheric Gases
LPG
Hard Goods
Rest of Africa

Air gases separated into its main components						
Liquefied Petroleum Gas							
Electrodes and welding equipment							
Operations outside of South Africa						

R’million

2014
Audited

2013
Audited

Revenue

5 834

5 825

1 776
2 135
935
988

1 745
2 132
993
955

1 559

1 580

663
313
229
354

610
311
337
322

Atmospheric Gases
LPG
Hard Goods
Rest of Africa
Gross profit after distribution (GPADE) before restructuring costs
Atmospheric Gases
LPG
Hard Goods
Rest of Africa
Reconciliation of GPADE to EBIT
GPADE for business segments before restructuring costs
Other operating expenses
Impairments
Restructuring costs
Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT)

1 559
(1 122)
(52)
(185)
200

1 580
(1 066)
–
–
514

Business segment performance is measured based on gross profit after distribution expenses (GPADE) before restructuring
costs. There was no change in the measurement methods used to derive GPADE. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an
arm’s length basis. Finance expenses and taxes are not allocated to these segments as they are managed on a Group basis.
Other operating expenses include the following: marketing and selling expenses, corporate and support functions and other
non-trading income and expenses. These costs are not included in GPADE and are managed by support function.
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Selected notes to the summarised consolidated
financial statements
1.
GENERAL INFORMATION
	African Oxygen Limited (“Afrox” or the “Company”) is a South African registered company. The summarised
consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in an associate.

3.
BASIS OF PREPARATION
	The summarised consolidated financial statements have not been audited nor independently reviewed and therefore this
announcement is the responsibility of the directors of Afrox. These summarised consolidated financial statements are
a summary of the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014. The full set of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2014 have been prepared on
the going-concern basis and will be available for inspection at the Company’s registered office and on the Afrox website
(at http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/Index.html.) with effect from 23 March 2015.

This report was compiled under the supervision of Mr Nick Thomson CA(SA), Group Financial Director.
4.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	The Group has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any consequential
amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of 1 January 2014:
– Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities;
– Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36);
– IFRIC 21 Levies; and
– Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting (Amendments to IAS 39).

R’million
5.

2014
Audited

2013
Audited

3 034
533
(35)
(12)
(349)
(5)

2 854
507
–
(7)
(332)
12

Closing carrying value

3 166

3 034

The future capital commitments as at 31 December 2014 amounted to R657 million (2013: R451 million).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Opening carrying value
Additions, net of transfers from assets under construction
Impairments
Disposals
Depreciation
Translation differences

governance and remuneration

	The adoption of the new standards listed above did not have a significant impact on the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements.

performance review

	The summarised consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical-cost basis except for the following
items which are measured using an alternative basis at each reporting date.
– Derivative financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss.
– Retirement benefit assets measured at the fair value of the planned assets less the present value of the defined
benefit obligation.
– Share based payment awards to employees are measured with reference to the fair value of equity instruments
granted. The fair value of the equity instruments granted is estimated using an industry accepted valuation
technique.

leadership review

	The accounting policies applied in the presentation of the summarised consolidated financial statements in terms
of International Financial Reporting Standards are consistent with those applied for the year ended
31 December 2013, except for new standards that became effective 1 January 2014, refer note 4.

material matters and
strategic response

2.
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
	The summarised consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting
Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council, the
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Selected notes to the summarised consolidated financial statements continued

6.

FAIR VALUE CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT
Accounting classification and fair values
The classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair values are:
Held-fortrading

Loans and
receivables

Liabilities at
amortised
cost

Other
assets

Total
carrying
amount

Fair
value

31 December 2014
Financial assets not measured at
fair value
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Lease receivables

–
–
–

848
526
–

–
–
–

–
–
123

848
526
123

848
526
123

Total financial assets

–

1 374

–

123

1 497

1 497

1

–

–

–

1

1

–

–

1 000

–

1 000

959

–
–

–
–

925
29

–
–

925
29

925
29

1

–

1 954

–

1 955

1 914

6

–

–

–

6

6

–
–
–

885
380
–

–
–
–

–
–
107

885
380
107

885
380
107

6

1 372

–

107

1 378

1 378

R’million

Financial liabilities measured at
fair value
Derivative financial instruments
Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Borrowings
Trade, other payables and
financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts
Total financial liabilities
31 December 2013
Financial assets measured at fair
value
Derivative financial instruments
Financial assets not measured at
fair value
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Lease receivables
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Borrowings
Trade, other payables and financial
liabilities
Bank overdrafts

–

–

1 003

1 003

968

–
–

–
–

913
26

913
26

913
26

Total financial liabilities

–

–

1 942

1 942

1 907

2014

2013

R’million
Reconciliation to the summarised consolidated statement of financial position:
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments
Deposits

849
–
(1)

906
(20)
(1)

Financial instruments

848

885

1 080
(108)
(18)
(29)

1 107
(107)
(52)
(35)

925

913

Trade, other payables and other financial liabilities
Employee benefits including leave pay, bonuses and other costs
Deferred rentals
Value added taxation
Financial instruments
82 I
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6.

R’million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

31 December 2014
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments

–

1

–

1

31 December 2013
Financial assets measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments

–

6

–

6

Transfers
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during
which the transfer has occurred. There were no transfers between level 1, 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the
years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.
7.

Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings
R’million

2013
Audited

Profit for the year
Adjusted for effects of:
Impairment of goodwill in subsidiaries
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

83

309

17
(19)
35

–
(15)
–

Taxation

116
(5)

294
6

Headline earnings

111

294

Basic and diluted earnings per share – cents
Headline earnings per share – cents

26.8
36.2

100.1
95.3

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group entered into various sale and purchase transactions with related parties, in the ordinary course of business,
on an arm’s length basis. The nature of related-party transactions is consistent with those reported previously.
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8.

2014
Audited

performance review

EARNINGS AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Headline earnings per share are calculated on headline earnings of R111 million (2013: R294 million), and a weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 308 567 602 (2013: 308 567 602) in issue during the year.

leadership review

L evel 2 instruments comprise forward exchange contracts for foreign currency (FECs). The fair value of these derivative
financial instruments is calculated using a discounted cash flow model (DCF) with the major variables being the
discount rate and the spot exchange rate. The calculation has been performed by our outsourced treasury service
provider.

material matters and
strategic response

FAIR VALUE CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT continued
Fair value hierarchy
The table below categorises fair value measurements for financial instruments categorised into the fair value hierarchy
based on the inputs used. The different levels are defined as follows:
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.
Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Selected notes to the summarised consolidated financial statements continued

9.

UPDATE ON KEY LITIGATION MATTERS
There is no outstanding litigation of a material nature against the Group. During the year, an appropriate commercial
solution was negotiated to the major material claim of R207 million highlighted in the 2013 annual report.
The consequences of the commercial settlement, which are confidential, had been fully provided for.
The Company continues to pursue its rights in terms of a disputed supply contract with a major steel producer. No
revenue has been accounted for in terms of this contract since June 2012. Heads of argument have been exchanged
and it is expected that this matter will go to arbitration in the 2015 calendar year. The disputed revenue not recorded
amounts to approximately R95 million (excluding VAT); in its arguments the steel company concerned has tabled that
it has over-paid in terms of the contract by R184 million. No provision has been made against this counter claim.

10.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Other than for the continuing impact of the adverse trading conditions, the directors are not aware of any material
matter or circumstance arising between the end of the year and up to the date of this report.

11.

AUDIT OPINION
These summarised consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 have been derived from
the audited consolidated financial statements of African Oxygen Limited for the year ended 31 December 2014, on
which the auditors, KPMG Inc., have expressed an unmodified audit opinion.
T he auditor’s report does not necessarily report on all of the information contained in this announcement.
Shareholders are therefore advised that in order to obtain a full understanding of the nature of the auditor’s
assessment, they should obtain a copy of the auditor’s report, together with the accompanying financial information
from the issuer’s registered office. The auditor’s reports and the audited consolidated financial statements, which have
been summarised in this report, will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company and on the
Afrox website (at http://www.afrox.co.za/en/investor_relations/Index.html.) from 23 March 2015.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY
Salient dates
Financial year-end
Annual General Meeting

31 December
28 May 2015

material matters and
strategic response

Reports
Interim report six months ended June 2015
Final announcement of 2014 audited annual results
Annual financial statements

our business

Shareholder information

27 August 2015
26 February 2015
23 March 2015

Results advertisements
Interim advertisement

28 August 2015

Investor presentations
Year-end results presentation
Interim results presentation

2 March 2015
28 August 2015

Business update
Granting of awards to directors
Scaw metals extends Afrox R400 million contract
Afrox retains Sasol contract, boosts value
Afrox signs R147 million nitrogen supply contract
Condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2014
Appointment to the Board of Directors
Afrox signs R65 million contract with Steinmuller
Afrox signs R25 million equipment contract
Afrox signs R55 million LPG contract
Results of the annual general meeting
Strike action suspended at Afrox
No change statement and notice of annual general meeting
Ceppwawu strikes at Afrox
Afrox clinches R160 million Columbus Stainless contract
Summarised audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

performance review

28 November 2014
25 November 2014
18 September 2014
10 September 2014
4 September 2014
21 August 2014
23 July 2014
11 June 2014
4 June 2014
28 May 2014
22 May 2014
30 April 2014
28 March 2014
18 March 2014
27 February 2014
27 February 2014

leadership review

SENS ANNOUNCEMENT
The following Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) announcements were made during the past financial year:

governance and remuneration
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Glossary
TERM

DEFINITION

ASU

Air Separation Unit

BBBEE

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

CO2

Carbon dioxide

DIFOT

Delivered in full and on time

DPS

Dividends declared per share

EBIT

Earnings before interest and taxation

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

GPADE

Gross profit after distribution expenses

GRI

Global Reporting Initiative

HEPS

Headline earnings per share

HPO

High performance organisation

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

IIRC

International Integrated Reporting Council

King III

King Code of Governance for South Africa 2009

KPI

Key performance indicator

LPG

Liquefied Petroleum Gas

LTI

Lost-time injury

MIR

Major incidents reported

MPG

Merchant and packaged gases

NCP

National Chemical Products

NCSC

National Consumer Service Centre

NGMR

Nominations, Governance and Management Resources

PCAAR

Passenger car avoidable accident rate

POLT

Plant online time as a percentage of total available time. This is used to measure plant
reliability

REA

Rest of Africa/Region Emerging Africa

ROE

Return on shareholders’ equity

RONA

Return on net assets

SENS

Stock Exchange News Service

SET

Social, Ethics and Transformation

SHEQ

Safety, health, environment and quality

TAAR

Truck avoidable accident rate
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Corporate information
AFRICAN OXYGEN LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
Registration number: 1927/000089/06
ISIN: ZAE000067120
JSE code: AFX NSX code: AOX

material matters and
strategic response

REGISTERED OFFICE AND BUSINESS ADDRESS
Afrox House, 23 Webber Street, Selby, Johannesburg 2001/PO Box 5404, Johannesburg 2000
Telephone +27 (0) 11 490 0400
Fax +27 (0) 11 493 1580
AUDITORS
KPMG Inc.
KPMG Crescent, 85 Empire Road, Parktown, Johannesburg, 2193
Telephone +27 (0) 11 647 7111

leadership review

COMPANY SECRETARY
Cheryl Singh (B Proc LLB MBA)
Afrox House, 23 Webber Street, Selby, Johannesburg 2001/PO Box 5404, Johannesburg 2000
Telephone +27 (0) 11 490 0400
Fax +27 (0) 11 493 1580
TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107
Telephone +27 (0) 11 370 5000
Fax +27 (0) 11 370 5271/2

performance review

SPONSOR IN SOUTH AFRICA
One Capital
17 Fricker Road, Illovo 2196
Telephone +27 (0) 11 550 5011
Fax +27 (0) 86 718 4524
SPONSOR IN NAMIBIA
Namibia Equity Brokers Proprietary Limited

governance and remuneration

WEBSITE
www.afrox.co.za
STAKEHOLDER ENQUIRIES
Stakeholder enquiries may be addressed per e-mail to: corporate.communication@afrox.linde.com
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Board responsibility
The Board and its sub-committees are ultimately responsible for overseeing the integrity and
completeness of the integrated report. The Board has applied its collective mind to the preparation
and presentation of the integrated report and has concluded that the completeness of the material
matters dealt with and the reliability of data and information presented, were taken into
consideration and have been materially presented according to the International Integrated
Reporting Council’s (IIRC) Integrated Report framework. On 26 February 2015, the Board approved
the 2014 integrated report.

Mike Huggon
Chairman and acting Managing Director

Nick Thomson
Financial Director

Forward-looking statements
Opinions expressed in this report are, by nature, subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties. Changing information or circumstances may cause the actual results, plans and
objectives of Afrox to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking
statements. Undue reliance should not be placed on such opinions, forecasts or data. No
representation is made on the completeness or correctness of opinions, forecasts or data in this
report. Neither Afrox nor any of its affiliates, advisors or representatives accepts any responsibility
for any loss arising from the use of any opinion expressed, forecast or data in this report. Forwardlooking statements apply only as of the date on which they are made and Afrox does not undertake
any obligation to publicly update or revise any of its opinions or forward-looking statements,
whether to reflect new data or future events or circumstances.
The financial information on which the forward-looking statements are based have not been audited
or reported on by Afrox’s independent external auditors.

Feedback
We remain committed to enhancing and improving on future integrated reports and to reporting
on the value that Afrox creates for its stakeholders. Therefore, we welcome your feedback
on our integrated report. Please send your queries to corporate communications at
investor.relations@afrox.linde.com.
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